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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBHE

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

REEE
For the year ended 31 December
BZE12A31MALEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20244 2023% 20224 20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FHET FHET
Revenue g 551,049 372,310 408,572 362,513 259,314
Profit/(loss) before tax and M R IEE R
impairment of non-financial BERER G
assets M,/ (E18) 74,747 (11,585) 20,310 21,254 4,792
Impairment of non-financial IEEMEERE
assets - (8,065) (1,534) = =
Income tax expense Frigfi < (12,888) (6,026) (6,218) (6,270) (3,145)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF,
(E18) 61,859  (25,676) 12,558 14,984 1,647
Profit/(loss) for the year VIN/NEIESZEDN
attributable to owners ERFR
of the Company @ (E51E) 61,859 (25,676) 12,558 14,984 1,647
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024%F 20234 20224 20214 20204
HIK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FExT FHET FET FET FET
Total assets BEME 452,430 369,425 395,067 401,028 361,692
Total liabilities ENEEGE 206,496 174,393 155,807 151,362 125,566
Equity attributable to owners ~ ANAFHA A
of the Company JEfG HE 5 245,934 195,032 239,260 249,666 236,126
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Cirtek Holdings Limited (the “"Company” or
“Cirtek”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”), | hereby present the annual results of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “year under review").

In 2024, the global economy struggled to move forward and
faced multiple contradictions. The recovery in major markets
around the world was uneven, with improved economic data
but weak consumer confidence in the United States and a
moderate recovery in Europe. Despite a slowdown in inflation,
factors such as geopolitical issues hindered the pace of the retail
market’s recovery, and consumer sentiment remained cautious.
Intensified market competition and supply chain integration also
posed challenges to the manufacturing industry.

Despite the volatile market environment, the Group leveraged its
global presence over the years, which has provided advantages
in seizing business opportunities in the fast-changing market,
resulting in continuous growth in sales and productivity during
the year under review. With the Group’s production bases in
five major garment exporting countries, namely Mainland China,
India, Bangladesh and Vietnam, as well as emerging locations
such as Central America, where production has commenced
in recent years, we have been able to immediately seize the
opportunity of market demand recovery and recorded growth in
revenue from each of the major markets, driving total revenue up
by 48% year-on-year to HK$551.1 million.

In addition, benefiting from economies of scale and with our
upgraded automation and implementation of cost control
measures, we were able to keep our costs within a stable range
and offset some of the impact of raw material cost fluctuations
to maintain profitability, with gross profit margins increasing to
49.1% year-on-year during the year under review. The forward-
looking strategic development and firm execution of business
strategies have strengthened the Group's resilience and laid the
foundation for future growth.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFEWE

In 2024, in addition to further deepening our global footprint,
consolidating our sales network in more than 40 markets
worldwide and our partnerships with existing customers, as
well as enhancing the productivity and operational efficiency
of our major production bases, we also sought to explore
development opportunities. In addition, Primway S.A.R.L
("Primway"”), a French company acquired by the Group in 2023,
has progressively realised the synergistic effect and injected
new impetus into the European business after the integration in
2024.

At the same time, as the market for radio-frequency
identification (“RFID") technology continues to grow, and its
applications widen, we have continued to proactively promote
our RFID products as one of the key growth areas for our
business. During the year under review, we also actively sourced
environmentally-friendly and recycled materials and launched
related products to align with the global market trend, helping
us to secure new orders from major clothing brands. These
development efforts will provide further impetus to our future
business growth.

According to the United Nations’ 2025 World Economic Situation
and Prospects report, global economic growth is forecast to
remain at 2.8% in 2025, the same as in 2024. This means that
economic recovery will continue to be slow and the apparel retail
industry will continue to face challenges such as a volatile global
trade environment and unstable consumer sentiment. Despite
this opportunities in the market still exist. We remain cautiously
optimistic about future prospects as the global apparel market
is expected to grow from US$708.8 billion in 2024 to US$766.6
billion in 2025, representing a growth rate of 8.2%, according to
a research firm.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFEWHE

The Group has established competitive advantages based on its
global footprint, with sales and production closely integrated in
each geographical market. We have sufficient productivity in all
major garment exporting countries around the world, enabling
us to respond quickly to local market demand while helping our
customers to avoid potential geopolitical risks. Our sales points
and offices around the world will also strengthen cooperation
with local customers to ensure faster production and shipment
processes, as well as optimising supply chain management to
further improve operational efficiency and cost control.

In terms of market expansion, following the successful
integration of our business in 2024, we will further deepen our
cooperation with Primway in 2025, leveraging its established
sales network in Europe and the Group’s manufacturing
strengths to jointly expand into sub-markets in France and other
European countries, attract more brand customers, and build
new growth momentum. Moreover, we will utilise our global
sales network to capitalise on the growing demand for RFID
products and develop cross-selling opportunities. We will also
continue to upgrade the automation of our production facilities to
improve production efficiency and leverage economies of scale
to effectively control costs, thereby further strengthening our
market competitiveness.

The Group has passed its peak investment period and will reduce
its capital expenditure accordingly in 2025. Our strong cash
position, coupled with a declining gearing ratio and continued
improvement in financial liquidity, will enable us to meet the
ever-changing market environment and challenges, and drive
our business to achieve long-term and stable growth. We look
forward to pursuing greater development opportunities for the
Group and creating greater value and returns for shareholders
this year.

| would like to take this opportunity to express my heartfelt
gratitude to our shareholders, customers, staff members and
suppliers for their trust and long-term support of the Group,
which have enabled us to work together, forging ahead amidst
opportunities and challenges, and achieving remarkable results.

Mr Chan Sing Ming
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong

31 March 2025
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REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

Although global inflationary pressures eased in 2024, the global
economy continued to grow at a slow pace due to the uncertain
geopolitical situation and the high interest rate environment. The
United Nations forecasted global economic growth of 2.8% in
2024, which remains well below the pre-pandemic levels. During
the year, among the developed economies, the US economy
grew by 2.8% year-on-year and retail sales increased by 4.4%
year-on-year; Mainland China benefited from policies aimed
at expanding domestic demand and boosting consumption,
resulting in economic growth of 5.0% year-on-year and a 3.5%
year-on-year increase in total retail sales of social consumer
goods; and in the Eurozone, gross domestic product (“GDP")
grew by 0.7% year-on-year, retail sales increased by 1.9% year-
on-year in December. Despite these improvements in economic
performance across various countries, the market environment
remained fraught with uncertainty due to unfavourable factors
such as weak economic activity, particularly in the manufacturing
industry, and overall low consumer confidence.

In this complex market environment, the Group completed
its global expansion initiatives. The Group's sales offices and
production bases in various countries established a strong
foothold, providing the Group with a competitive edge in
key markets and creating a worldwide business network
conducive to seizing opportunities arising from the rebound
of the apparel market. The Group’s production bases in major
garment exporting countries such as Mainland China, Vietnam
and Bangladesh have seen a steady increase in order volumes.
Meanwhile, operations at new factories in Central America and
Southern Europe progressed smoothly, securing new customers
and orders. As a result, the Group maintained its growth
momentum in the first half of 2024, with revenue increasing by
48.0% vyear-on-year to approximately HK$551,049,000 (2023:
approximately HK$372,310,000). With the completion of the
relocation of the newly established plant in Bangladesh and
its commencement of operations in February 2024, the Group
achieved significant economies of scale, with the gross profit
margin for the year under review increasing to 49.1% (2023:
43.7%). To further enhance production efficiency, reduce costs
and increase profits, the Group increased its investment in
automation equipment and upgraded its internal management
system. Consequently, the Group successfully turned its
loss into profit for the year under review and recorded profit
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$61,859,000 (2023: loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$25,676,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENRE D

With the steady growth in business performance, the Group's
financial position has become more robust with sufficient
cash reserves and stable operating cash flow. In view of
this, the Board of Directors has proposed a final dividend of
HKO0.75 cents per share (2023: Nil) as a token of appreciation
to its shareholders for their long-term support. The Group has
implemented effective capital management to enhance its cash
flow enabling it to better adapt to market changes and seize
business opportunities in a timely manner. In addition, with the
gearing ratio stabilised, the Group’s financial status has become
more solid, providing strong support for future development.

In terms of sales and production, the growth in demand for
apparel in the European Union ("EU") was one of the main
drivers during the year under review. In the third quarter of
2024, the EU apparel import market recovered significantly,
particularly in October, when non-EU apparel imports into the EU
grew by 28.6% year-on-year. By establishing a sales network in
more than 40 markets worldwide and production bases in the
top five garment exporting countries, the Group has been able
to diversify its business risks and capture market opportunities
in a timely manner. Leveraging its local operating experience,
the Group has been successful in expanding its local customer
base and securing new orders by closely following local market
demands, optimising supply chain management and improving
service response time. During the year under review, the Group
achieved significant sales growth in markets such as Mainland
China, Vietnam, Bangladesh and India, while sales from its
production bases in Central America and Southern Europe also
increased, contributing to the Group's overall revenue growth.

In terms of products, with the widespread application of RFID
technology in the global retail sector, especially in the apparel
industry, the Group is able to promote RFID products to its
customers through cross-selling, as it has accumulated a wide
customer base with its years of in-depth experience in the
apparel labels and trim products industry. During the year under
review, the proportion of revenue of RFID products to the
revenue of the Group has significantly increased. In addition, the
Group has proactively responded to the growing trend of global
environmental, social and governance ("ESG") considerations
by implementing sustainable development concepts from raw
material selection to production processes. The Group has
been actively sourcing environmentally friendly materials, such
as biodegradable materials and recycled plastics, to enrich its
product portfolio and offer more choices to renowned apparel
brands, as well as to meet the environmental requirements of
these customers in terms of energy and water conservation in
the production process.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

In 2023, the Group completed the acquisition of an associate in
Primway S.A.R.L. (“Primway"), a French packaging company
with over a decade of history, and the integration into the
Group's operations was successfully completed in 2024. During
the year under review, Primway introduced French brands
to the Group as new customers and started to contribute
revenue to the Group. Capitalising on the Group's extensive
industry experience and advantages in large-scale production,
it is expected that together with Primway, it will be able to
attract more brand customers from France and other European
countries and regions, thus injecting new impetus into the
Group's development.

PROSPECTS

In 2024, the global economy showed a moderate recovery,
which positively impacted the Group’'s performance. However,
looking ahead to 2025, challenges such as intensifying
geopolitical conflicts and protectionism policies, as well as
high debt levels, are expected to create more uncertainty in
the market environment. The United Nations forecasts that the
global economy will grow by 2.8% in 2025, the same as last
year, mainly due to slower growth in the two largest economies,
the United States and Mainland China. In particular, growth in
the US is expected to slow from 2.8% last year to 1.9% in 2025
due to a weaker labour market and a slowdown in consumer
spending. In Mainland China, overall economic performance will
be weighed down by a slowdown in consumption and a sluggish
recovery in household consumer confidence.

As a pioneer in the apparel labels and trim products industry,
the Group has been focusing on the implementation of its
global deployment strategy for many years, and has now
moved from the investment stage to the harvesting stage. In
the face of market ups and downs, the Group will continue to
capitalise on the advantages of its global presence to capture
the growth potential of each regional market, while increasing
its investment in automation of production facilities and
improving its management system in order to further consolidate
its business footprint. With a solid business foundation and
stringent cost control measures, the Group is confident that
it will be able to cope with market changes and rise to the
challenges.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENRE D

With the increasing application of RFID products in various
industries, the market demand continues to rise and is showing
considerable growth potential. The Group will endeavour to
expand the market for RFID products while reviewing the
way it works with existing customers to create more cross-
selling opportunities. In addition, the increasing consumer
focus on sustainability has led brands to seek cooperation with
manufacturing partners that meet ESG standards. In light of
this movement, the Group has incorporated the concept of
sustainability into its daily operations and production processes.
In addition to the use of renewable energy in its factories
in Mainland China, the Group has expanded its choice of
environmentally friendly raw materials to further enhance its
competitiveness and capture the opportunities presented by the
current trend.

Looking ahead, the Group will monitor the market situation
and take advantage of its “offensive yet defensive” global
deployment strategy to consolidate its existing businesses and
markets, while actively exploring and seizing new business
opportunities. The Group will continue to strengthen the
resilience of its business to ensure its steady progress in the
complex and volatile market environment and to bring long-term
value to its shareholders.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

Revenue of the Group is mainly generated from the sale of
apparel labels and trim products, such as hang tags, woven
labels, printed labels and heat transfer products. Revenue of our
Group sharply increased by approximately HK$178.8 million or
48.0% from approximately HK$372.3 million for the year ended
31 December 2023 (“FY2023") to approximately HK$551.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2024 ("FY2024").
Such increase was due to the increase in sales orders from the
Group's global sales network during FY2024.

Gross profit

The Group recorded a gross profit and gross profit margin of
approximately HK$270.6 million and 49.1% respectively for
FY2024, compared to a gross profit of approximately HK$162.6
million and a gross profit margin of 43.7% for FY2023. The
improvement in gross profit margin was mainly due to the cost
management incentives using the Group's global advantages and
resource allocation during FY2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

Other income and gains

The Group recorded a decrease in other income and gains
of 6.0%, from approximately HK$6.1 million for FY2023 to
approximately HK$5.7 million for FY2024, which is due to decline
of the freight and transportation income and bank interest
income during FY2024.

Selling and distribution expenses

The Group recorded an increase in selling and distribution
expenses of 2.9%, from approximately HK$59.5 million for
FY2023 to approximately HK$61.2 million for FY2024, which is
consistent with the increase in revenue during FY2024.

Administrative expenses

The Group recorded an increase in administrative expenses
for the year by 12.1% from approximately HK$121.0 million
for FY2023 to approximately HK$135.6 million for FY2024. The
increment was mainly due to the headcount and depreciation
cost increase during FY2024.

Other operation income/(expenses), net

The Group recorded other operation expenses of approximately
HK$2.4 million in FY2024 compared with the other operating
income of approximately HK$4.1 million in FY2023. The above
change was mainly due to the foreign exchange differences and
impairment of trade receivables during FY2024.

Finance costs

The Group recorded a decrease in finance costs of 25.3%,
from approximately HK$3.2 million for FY2023 to approximately
HK$2.4 million for FY2024, which is due to the repayment of
certain bank loans during FY2024.

Taxation
The Group recorded an increase in income tax expenses from
approximately HK$6.0 million for FY2023 to approximately

HK$12.9 million for FY2024, which is due to the improvement of
the operating performance during FY2024.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ¢ 2024 Annual Report

HAWA R Wz

NEEERSHMBARKZERNL6.0% @ B
2023 B B4 £ /9 496,100,000 7T T~ %k &=
202451 B F [E #9 495,700,000 7T ThER
2024 R F E M B8 MBI A RIRITH B
WA T BRFTER -

AEBFFSHEER D HEMITIEMN2.9% © @
2023 B B 4F & #9 #759,500,000 7% JT 18 hn =
2024BF BN FFE K94961,200,000/8 7T » £22024
B W s mo 18 N — B o

TTHRX

AEERAFEHESNITHRAS + A20238
B FE ) #9121,000,00058 ST A112.1% &
2024 5 B £F JE #9 135,600,000 7T © iR =
BHR20240 HEEE T ABRITE &AL
DNETEL -

HAp Qg WA/ (BIxX) F8

REBEMN2024H R FEEFEMBERTL
2,400,000 7T + 2023 B I 4F [2 & A fib 48
LA K /34,100,000/87C - FlLEEH T EMH
R2024 BFEOE B Z R K E 5 R UGRIA
B FTEL -

L= 927

REBESFEREKNRD25.3%  H120238F
B4F JE 93,200,000 T % 2024 81 B F 2
#72,400,0007% 7T © JO AR 20248 BF [E
BEETRITERMAE -

B8

R & B 15 P15 T B X B 2023 B BUF B
#96,000,000 % JT I8 £ 2024 F B BLF E 4
12,900,000 7T * Ty 202481 B F E 48
EREGINE -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENRE D

Profit/(Loss) for the year

The Group recorded a turnaround from loss to profit, as
compared to operating loss approximately HK$25.7 million in
FY2023 to operating profit approximately HK$61.9 million in
FY2024.

The recovery of the Group’'s financial performance was mainly
attributable to an increase in sales orders from Group's global
sales network, combined with enhanced production efficiency
through the expansion of its production bases and effective cost
management using the Group’s global advantages and resource
allocation.

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group's operating capital was mainly generated from cash
from its daily operation of its businesses, equity funding and
interest-bearing loan. The Group’s cash requirements related
primarily to production and operating activities, repayment
of due liabilities, capital expenditure, interest and other
unforeseeable cash requirements.

The net asset value of the Group increased by 26.1%, from
approximately HK$195.0 million as at 31 December 2023 to
approximately HK$245.9 million as at 31 December 2024.

Cash and cash equivalents and pledged deposits of the Group
as at 31 December 2024 amounted to approximately HK$72.8
million, which increased by 49.5% as compared to approximately
HK$48.7 million as at 31 December 2023.

The Group had interest-bearing bank borrowings of
approximately HK$6.2 million as at 31 December 2024, which
decreased by 73.2% as compared to approximately HK$23.1
million as at 31 December 2023. The Group had aggregate
banking facilities of approximately HK$135.6 million, of which
approximately HK$6.3 million was utilized and approximately
HK$129.3 million was unutilized. The Group maintains these
facilities as an available resource and, as at the date of this
report, the Company does not intent to draw down the unutilised
amount.

FREF(BE)
AEBBSHERR - A2023MBFEHNE

BB #925,700,000/8 T8 520248 BLF E
B4R 5% F14961,900,000/8 7T ©

AEEFBRRETETEARAEE ZIRE

ERMONEETEE N - M EBEBBALE
HEi R BYHKAER  ERAKENEZIR

BB RAEDRIRE EEMNE -

BEARLE  RBHESRMBER
AEENEEESFERAHBERFLERN
EEMNRS BREeRkilBER - A5H
MRS BRI ETHAELL T - EEDHH
BE BEARAX  FEREMTAIERHR
S FERER -

REBMEEFEMRP2023F12 831 B
195,000,000/ 012 £ 78 2024F 12 A31BH
#9245,900,000/8 7T © 18§ 426.1% °

AEER2024F12A3MBNRERBEEE
B K2 I ERL A72,800,00058 7T+ &
720234 12 831 H #948,700,0005% 7T 1
49.50/0 °

2024F 128310 AEEMFBRITE
B #)/56,200,0007% 7T - 8K 2023F 12 A
31 H 923,100,000 7L 8 2 73.2% ° K&
BmiR{T{E B4 %4 /5135,600,000/8 7T -
H 28 46,300,000 T 0 A8 ALY
129,300,000 7L - NEBKZEEEH#T
AR RAER  RAFRERAH  AQRESR
BABAESHE -

HFEZERERAT © 2024 FERSE

13



14

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

Current ratio

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net current assets
of approximately HK$88.1 million, representing an increase
of approximately HK$59.5 million as compared to that of
approximately HK$28.6 million as at 31 December 2023. As
a result, the current ratio of the Group (dividing total current
assets by total current liabilities at year end date) improved to
approximately 1.6 times as at 31 December 2024 compared to
approximately 1.2 times as at 31 December 2023.

Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio (dividing bank borrowings plus lease liabilities
by equity attributable to owners of the Company) was
approximately 27.5% as at 31 December 2024, while the gearing
ratio as at 31 December 2023 was approximately 24.7%.

The Board is of the opinion that the Group has a solid and
stable financial position and adequate resources to support
the necessary operating funding requirements and foreseeable
capital expenditures.

Treasury policy

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a
healthy liquidity position throughout the Reporting Period.

The management of the Group regularly reviews the recoverable
amounts and trade receivables by performing ongoing credit
assessments and monitoring prompt recovery and, if necessary,
making adequate impairment losses for irrecoverable amounts.
In order to achieve better cost control and minimise the cost of
funds, the Group's treasury activities are centralised and cash is
generally deposited with leading licensed banks in Hong Kong
and denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group’s transactions and the monetary assets are principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, Euro dollars
and United States dollars. The Group currently does not use
derivative financial instruments to hedge against the volatility
associated with foreign currency transactions and other financial
assets and liabilities arising in the ordinary course of business.
The Group has not experienced any material difficulties or
effects on its operations or liquidity as a result of fluctuations in
currency exchanges rate during the Reporting Period. The Board
will closely monitor the changes of the rate of exchange and
government policies from time to time.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (as at 31 December 2023: Nil).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

CHANGE OF PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE AND REGISTERED OFFICE IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

As of 31 December 2024, the principal share registrar and
transfer office and the registered office of the Company in the
Cayman Islands has been changed to:

Vistra (Cayman) Limited, P.O. Box 31119 Grand Pavilion,
Hibiscus Way, 802 West Bay Road, Grand Cayman, KY1-1205,
Cayman lIslands

For further information, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 10 January 2025.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at FY2024, we had a total of 1,424 employees in all regions
(2023: 1,219 employees).

The Company’'s employee benefit expense (excluding
directors’ remuneration), including salaries, bonuses and other
employee’s benefits, amounted to approximately HK$171.0
million for FY2024 (FY2023: approximately HK$153.7 million).
Remuneration packages are generally structured by reference to
market terms and individual qualifications. Salaries and wages
are normally reviewed annually based on performance appraisals
and other relevant factors.

SINEEE LB

AEENRHREBEEHETRINET - A
R - BT RETTAHE - AR ERE Y EE
ATESR T AR AEEEKBREPRE
VEINERXZGAREMMEREERAEAR
HKE) c RIBEHE  ARENZELRD

ééjﬁﬂil[ TS PN 3
%?AH#THT&J ERIEXRRBAK

%“Zﬁ

FREE

R2024F 12 A31H » AEEIE(E{A]E K
RBME(N2023512A31H « £#) -

BEPREE

SEFEREEERG BB REREMM
£

R2024F12A31H » ARRIRHEEEHEMNE
DRMBPECREAAMREECEE A

Vistra (Cayman) Limited, P.O. Box 31119
Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus Way, 802 West
Bay Road, Grand Cayman, KY1-1205,
Cayman Islands

HE—ERBLEART B AE2025F1 A
10BHRE -

BE R FHIBUR

K204 BEE @ ZMAMEHwERXE
1,424% B8 (20234 : 1,219%1EE) °

R2024 B EE  ARRMEERMAX
(TEREESEH2)(BEFE - BARHME
E@H) 4 A171,000,0005 7T (202381 B &
€ : #9153,700,000/87T) ° #FHEFE — K2
EMHERRAAEEMETE - HE&MITE
—REESTEREMEERRETSTR
5 o

HFEZERERAT © 2024 FERSE

15



16

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

FINAL DIVIDEND AND DATE OF ANNUAL GENERAL
MEETING

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend in cash
of HKO.75 cents per ordinary share for the financial year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). The final dividend is conditional
upon the passing of the relevant resolution by the Shareholders
at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the 2025 AGM") to
be held on Friday, 20 June 2025.

Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members
of the Company on Friday, 20 June 2025 will be eligible to attend
and vote at the 2025 AGM. It is expected that the proposed final
dividend, if approved, the final dividend will be paid in Hong Kong
dollars and to be paid on Friday, 18 July 2025 to shareholders
whose name appeared on the register of members on Friday,
27 June 2025. A notice concerning the annual general meeting
will be published and despatched to the shareholders of the
Company in due course.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not hold any
significant investments in equity interest in any other companies
and had no definite future plans for material investments and
capital assets for FY2024.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Discloseable transaction in relation to the purchase of
machinery

On 6 December 2024 (after trading hours), Charming Printing
(Boluo), as the purchaser, entered into the purchase contracts
with Konica Minolta Business Solutions (CHINA) Co., Ltd., as the
vendor, for the purchase of an UV inkjet printer (the “UV Inkjet
Printer”), at a total contract price of RMB9,800,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$10,486,000) payable in the manner set out
in the announcement of the Company dated 6 December 2024.

The purchase of the UV Inkjet Printer was part of the capital
investment to increase the Group’s capacity in the sale of
printing products. The machines purchased would be utilised by
the Group for its business operations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENRE D

As the highest applicable percentage ratio (as defined under the
Listing Rules) in respect of the purchase of the UV Inkjet Printer
exceeds 5% but is less than 25%, such purchase constitutes
a discloseable transaction for the Company and is accordingly
subject to the notification and announcement requirements
under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. For further information,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 6
December 2024.

Save for the above, the Group did not have any material
acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures during the Reporting Period.

MAJOR TRANSACTION IN RELATION TO THE LEASE

On 23 July 2024 (after trading hours), Charming Printing (Boluo)
Ltd. (1B & % F X IR AR 2 7)), a limited liability company
incorporated in the People's Republic of China and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company (“Charming Printing
(Boluo)"”) as lessee, and Boluo County Shiwan Town Shiwan
Village Yaowu Joint Stock Economic Cooperative (1§% %A /EE
FEF I E R 5 A 1E4L) as lessor entered into the lease (the
“Lease”) in relation to the lease of the factory located at No. 70,
Honghai Road, Shiwan Village, Shiwan Town, Boluo County (the
“Premises”) for a term of fifteen (15) years commencing from
10 November 2024 and expiring on 9 November 2039 (both days
inclusive). Given that the current lease for the relevant premises
was expected to expire in November 2024, the Directors
considered that continue leasing the Premises with competitive
rental terms would be in the interests of the Company and the
shareholders of the Company as a whole, as well as avoiding
relocation and refurbishment costs which the Group would
otherwise have to incur. As one or more of the applicable
percentage ratios (as defined in the Listing Rules) in respect of
the acquisition of right-of-use assets of the Premises recognised
by the Group pursuant to HKFRS 16 under the Lease is 25%
or more but is less than 100%, the entering into of the Lease
constitutes a major transaction for the Company and is subject
to the reporting, announcement, circular and shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. For
details of the information in relation to the Lease, please refer to
the circular of the Company dated 23 September 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES 5 - BERHEARAATD L HTEHE(BEER
OF THE COMPANY (INCLUDING SALE OF TREASURY [R#éseE)

SHARES)

During FY2024, the Company repurchased a total of 10,410,000 HR2024HBEE + ARAFRBEEHEX S
shares of the Company (the “Shares”) for an aggregate FrAR 2 5 A2 (E416,400% T 045
consideration of HK$416,400 on The Stock Exchange of Hong  #£10,410,0008 &~ A &% 5 ([ B4 1) » BT
Kong Limited, all of the purchased Shares are held as treasury HELORDHELEEFERH(EER ETH
shares (as defined in the Listing Rules). As at 31 December  BI){R1E - 7A2024F 128310 » AR FFA
2024, the Company held 10,410,000 treasury shares, details of  10,410,0000%E 1705 + 20248 & € &

the Shares repurchase during FY 2024 are as follows: B EFFIBAT -
Number
of Shares Purchase Aggregate
Month Repurchased Price Amount
e R
y=Rvi) #A BEE BEE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
July 2024 2024F7H 10,410,000 0.04 416,400
Total FEH 10,410,000 416,400

Save as disclosed, neither the Company nor any of its KBEREELZI  AAFHETAMBATR
subsidiaries had purchased, redeemed or sold any of the ZE(H2024BHEEANMEES « BLlkHE
Company's securities (including sale of treasury shares (as ZAAFEAZEH(BREEFKRHD(EER LW
defined in the Listing Rules)) throughout FY2024. HANIEE) -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND OTHER INFORMATION

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices and procedures. The corporate
governance principle of the Company emphasises accountability
and transparency and is adopted in the best interests of the
Company and the shareholders (the “Shareholders”). In
addition, the Company will strive to continuously improve these
practices and cultivate an ethical corporate culture.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance to protect the interests of its Shareholders
and to enhance corporate value and accountability. The Board
has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance practices
and is satisfied that the Company has complied with all Code
Provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code") as
set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) during
the Reporting Period. The Company has applied the principles
of the CG Code to its corporate governance structure and
practices as described in this report. The Company will continue
to enhance its corporate governance practices appropriate to the
conduct and growth of its business and to review such practices
from time to time to ensure that they comply with the CG Code
and align with the latest developments.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties set out in Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG
Code. The Board recognises that corporate governance should
be the collective responsibility of the Directors which includes:

(a) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
in compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management;

(c) to develop, review and monitor the codes of conduct and
compliance manuals applicable to employees and the
Directors;

(d) to develop and review the Company's policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board on such matters; and

(e) to review the Company’'s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREBRE

BOARD COMPOSITION AND BOARD PRACTICES

The Board is composed of six Directors, of which three are
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Sing Ming Barry (“Mr.
Barry Chan”), Ms. Law Miu Lan (“Ms. Candy Law"”) and Mr.
Chan Tsz Fung (“Mr. James Chan"), and three are independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick, Mr. Lee
Tak Cheong and Ms. Luk Mei Yan. All the independent non-
executive Directors have appropriate professional qualifications,
experience or related industry expertise. Mr. Barry Chan, the
Chairman, is the spouse of Ms. Candy Law, the Chief Executive
Officer. The Chairman provides leadership and is responsible
for the effective functioning and leadership of the Board. The
Chief Executive Officer focuses on the Company’'s business
development and daily management and operations generally.
The Directors’ biography and relevant relationships amongst
them are set out in the section headed "DIRECTORS’ AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S PROFILES"” section under Report
of the Directors on pages 40 to 44 of this annual report. Save
as disclosed in this annual report, none of the members of the
Board are related to one another.

Review will be made regularly by the Board to ensure that
it has a balance of skills and experience appropriate for the
requirement of the Group. Also, a balanced composition of
executive Directors is maintained to ensure independence and
effective management. The Company has satisfied the Listing
Rules in having one of the independent non-executive Directors
with appropriate accounting qualifications and expertise to sit in
the Audit Committee.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made
an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors meet the independence
guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines. The
Company considers all independent non-executive Directors to
be independent.

The independent non-executive Directors of the Company
are appointed for a specific term of three years, subject to
retirement by rotation in accordance with the amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles of Association”) and the Listing
Rules. Independent non-executive Directors are identified in
all corporate communications. An updated list of the Directors
identifying the independent non-executive Directors and the
roles and functions of the Directors is maintained on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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When selecting potential candidates for directors, skills,
experience, expertise, their devotion of time, potential conflicts
of interests are key factors of consideration. The Nomination
Committee was set up to make recommendations to the Board
on the selection and nomination of candidates for directorship.
Majority of members of the Nomination Committee are
independent non-executive Directors.

The Board is accountable to the Shareholders and is responsible
for the formulation of the Group’s strategy, overseeing the
management of the business and affairs of the Group. The
Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and
provides direction to management by laying down strategies
and overseeing their implementation, monitors the Group's
operational and financial performance, and ensures that sound
internal control and risk management systems are in place.
The Board reserves its decision for all major matters relating to
policy matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of directors and other significant operational matters of the
Company. Responsibilities relating to implementing decisions
of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the daily operation and
management of the Company are delegated to the management.

Key and important decisions are fully discussed at the board
meetings. All Directors have been fully consulted about any
matters proposed for inclusion in the agenda. The Chairman
has delegated the responsibility for drawing up the agenda for
each board meeting to the company secretary of the Company
(the "Company Secretary”). With the support of the Company
Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that all Directors are
properly briefed on issues arising at board meetings and receive
adequate and reliable information in a timely manner. The
Chairman ensures that the Board works effectively to discharge
its responsibilities in the best interests of the Company, and, to
establish good corporate governance practices and procedures.
He also ensures that all key and appropriate issues are discussed
by the Board in a timely manner and all Directors are encouraged
to make a full and active contribution to the board’s affairs.
Directors with different views are encouraged to voice their
concerns. They are allowed sufficient time for discussion of
issues so as to ensure that board decisions fairly reflect board
consensus. A culture of openness and debate is promoted to
facilitate the effective contribution of non-executive Directors
and ensure constructive relations between executive and
non-executive Directors. During the year, the Chairman held
a meeting on 29 November 2024 with the independent non-
executive Directors without the presence of other directors in
compliance with the applicable code provision of the CG Code.
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Board meetings are scheduled to be held at regular intervals. The
Board would meet more frequently as and when required.

All the Directors are covered by the Director’'s & Officer’s
Liability Insurance, which is also part of our best practices.

The attendance record of the individual Directors at the Board
and committee meetings, and general meeting(s) held during
FY2024 is set out below:

EZeTHETER EFeRNARER
BHREZSH -

BEESEHHEF S RABE B ERAR
HERRHEMAKEERN -

EEEHRN202UMRFERTNESZER
ZEEEBUARBRAG ZEHHINWT ¢

Number of meetings attended/eligible to attend

during FY2024

M08 REFEHFE,/ RERLESBRH

Board Audit Remuneration = Nomination
Meeting Committee Committee = Committee AGM
EEB8E ENZET FHZEE REEZEE RREFLAE
Executive Directors #H{T£%E
Mr. Barry Chan PR B2 BR LA 4/4 = = 1/1 11
Ms. Candy Law BYBITL 4/4 = = = 11
Mr. James Chan PRAFIE 5 & 4/4 - - 171 171
Independent BUFHITES
Non-executive
Directors
Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick ~ ###5E4 4/4 4/4 171 1/1 171
Mr. Lee Tak Cheong ~ ZEE%4 4/4 4/4 171 11 1/1
Ms. Luk Mei Yan BEEBEZT 4/4 4/4 7 171 1/1

Notice of at least fourteen days is given to the Directors for
regular meetings, while Board papers are sent to the Directors
not less than three days before the scheduled date of a board or
board committee meeting. The Directors can attend meetings in
persons or through other means of electronic communication.
The Company Secretary ensures that the procedure and all
applicable rules and regulations are strictly and fully complied
with. Minutes of board meetings and board committee meetings
are recorded in sufficient details of the matters considered
and decisions reached at the relevant meetings. Draft and
final versions of the minutes in respect of board meetings and
board committee meetings are sent to all Directors or board
committee members respectively for comment and records
within a reasonable time after the relevant meetings. Minutes
of board meetings and board committee meetings are kept by
the Company Secretary and are available for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Directors.

Directors have full access to information on the Group and
are able to obtain independent professional advice whenever
necessary.
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TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

Every newly appointed Director will meet with other Directors and
key management executives, and will receive a comprehensive,
formal and tailored induction on the first occasion of her
appointment. Subsequently, he/she will receive briefings and
other professional development necessary to ensure that he/she
has a proper understanding of the operations and business of the
Company and he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibility with
the Company.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to refresh their knowledge and skills
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant. Directors are also invited to participate in the
Company events to familiarize themselves with the operations of
the Company and create opportunity to communicate with other
management members of the Company.

The records of training as received by each Director for the year
ended 31 December 2024 are summarised as follows:

Mr. Barry Chan PR & AR 5 A&
Ms. Candy Law EYBEZT
Mr. James Chan PRAFIE 5 A4
Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick MBS
Mr. Lee Tak Cheong TEELE
Ms. Luk Mei Yan PEE B A+

A:. Newsletters published by the Stock Exchange

B: Corporate governance & administration courses and
seminars organized by various professional bodies and
institutions

C: E-learning courses and seminars prepared by the Stock
Exchange
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code") as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the Company’s
code of conduct regarding Directors’ and employees’ securities
transactions. The chairman of the Audit Committee is the
person to be notified for securities dealings by Directors and a
designated form is used for notification and acknowledgment
purpose. Following specific enquiry by the Company, they have
complied with the requirements of the Model Code during the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Company places great importance on internal control and
risk management to safeguard the assets of the Company
and the interests of Shareholders. The Board has overall
responsibility for the system of internal control and for reviewing
its effectiveness. The Audit Committee assists the Board in
meeting its responsibilities for maintaining an effective system
of internal control. The Audit Committee reviews the process
by which the Group evaluates its control environment and risk
assessment process, and the way in which business and control
risks are managed through the assistance of the Company's
Internal Control Consultant.

The Internal Control Consultant assesses risk exposure,
formulates audit plan and ensures that the audit programs cover
key internal control areas of operating subsidiaries on a rotational
basis for the review by the Audit Committee.

The Internal Control Consultant reports their findings and
recommendations to management of the Company and the
Audit Committee. The Internal Control Consultant also
monitors the follow-up actions agreed upon in response to
her recommendations and reports to the Audit Committee the
progress of implementation of those recommendations.

With the assistance of the Audit Committee and the Company's
Internal Control Consultant, the Board is satisfied that the
overall financial, operational and compliance controls, and
risk management of the Group continues to be effective and
adequate.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Group. The Directors ensure
that the preparation of the financial statements of the Group
is in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the
Group is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 52
to 58 of this annual report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the auditors of the
Company received approximately HK$2,050,000 for their audit
service. Non-audit service which covered tax compliance
and other service provided to the Group was approximately
HK$375,000 in the same year.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises two Independent
Non-executive Directors and one executive Director. They are
Mr. Lee Tak Cheong (Committee Chairman), Ms. Candy Law
and Ms. Luk Mei Yan. The Committee’s authority and duties are
set out in written terms of reference which are posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The policy and structure for all remuneration of directors and
the senior management were reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee. Remuneration, includes basic salary and
performance bonus. Annual salary adjustment and performance
bonus are subject to review and approval by the Remuneration
Committee.

The primary functions of the Remuneration Committee include
reviewing and making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of Chairman, the executive Directors
and the senior management of the Company, the remuneration
policy and structure for all Directors and senior management
and establishing transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director or
any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her own
remuneration.
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The Remuneration Committee met once during the Reporting
Period with a 100% attendance by all committee members.
During the year, the works performed by the Remuneration
Committee included the following:

— the review of the performance and remuneration packages of
directors and senior management; and

— the review of the remuneration policy of the Group.

The remuneration of members of the senior management
(excluding Directors) by band for the year ended 31 December
2024 is set out below:

Band of Remuneration (HK$) FHENEEE (GBt)
Nil to HK$1,000,000

HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000

Z£%1,000,0007% 7T

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises two executive Directors,
Mr. Barry Chan (Committee Chairman) and Mr. James Chan and
three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Lee Tak Cheong,
Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick and Ms. Luk Mei Yan. The defined terms of
reference of the Committee are set out in writing and are posted
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making
recommendation to the Board for selection and nomination of
directors, and the succession planning of directors and senior
management. The Nomination Committee also reviews the
size, structure and composition of the Board with reference
to the Company’'s board diversity policy and assesses the
independence of independent non-executive Directors.
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The Nomination Committee met once during the Reporting
Period with a 100% attendance by all committee members.

During the year, the works performed by the Nomination
Committee included the following:

— the recommendation of the retiring directors for re-election
at the annual general meeting (the "AGM");

— the review of composition of the Board; and

— the assessment of independence of the independent Non-
executive Directors.

The Board adopted the board diversity policy which sets out
the approach to achieve and maintain diversity of the Board to
enhance quality of its performance. The policy aims to achieve
diversity through the consideration of a number of factors
including but not being limited to skills, regional and industry
experience, background, age, race, gender and other qualities.
The board reviews the implementation and effectiveness of the
board diversity policy on an annual basis. These differences will
be taken into account in determining the optimum composition
of the Board. All Board appointments are based on merit, in the
content of the talents, skills and experience, and taking into
account diversity.

The Nomination Committee will report annually on the
composition of the Board under diversified perspective,
and monitor the implementation of this policy to ensure its
effectiveness. It will discuss any revisions that may be required
and recommend such revisions to the Board for consideration
and approval.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for
selection and appointment of Directors to the Nomination
Committee.

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (“Nomination
Policy”) which sets out the selection criteria and process in
relation to nomination and appointment of Directors of the
Company and aims to ensure that the Board members have
a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Group's business.
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The Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing the
suitability and the potential contribution to the Board of a
proposed candidate, including but not limited to the following:

Reputation for integrity;

Accomplishment, experience and reputation in the business
and industry;

Commitment in respect of available time and relevant
interest;

Compliance with the criteria of independence, in case for
the appointment of an independent non-executive director,
as prescribed under Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange;

Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service; and

Any other relevant factors as may be determined by the
Nomination Committee or the Board from time to time as
appropriate.

The Nomination Policy also sets out the procedure for the
selection and appointment of new Directors and re-election of
Directors at general meetings.

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy,
as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Nomination
Policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions
that may be required and recommend any such revisions to the
Board for consideration and approval.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors. They are Ms. Luk Mei Yan (Committee
Chairman), Mr. Lee Tak Cheong and Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick. The
defined terms of reference of the Audit Committee are set out in
writing and are posted on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the
effectiveness of Company’s internal control and the Company's
internal audit function, risk management system and regulatory
compliance, the review of the Company’s financial information
and compliance, making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and removal of external auditor and assessing its
independence and performance.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held 4
meetings and the attendance record are as follows:

Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick MRS
Mr. Lee Tak Cheong TEmELAE
Ms. Luk Mei Yan PEEE L

The works performed by the Audit Committee during the year
included the following:

— reviewing with the auditor on key audit and accounting
matters, and updates on regulatory rules in the auditor’s
“Communication with the Audit Committee — 2024 Audit
Result” and the draft audited financial statements for the
financial year ended 31 December 2024;

— reviewing the financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024 focusing on business highlights, any change
of accounting policies and practices, and compliance with
accounting standards and Listing Rules requirements;

— reviewing with the auditor the scope of their audit, their
communication plan, their independence, developments
affecting the Company’s business, their risk assessment
and updates of accounting standards and Listing Rules
as affecting the Company for the financial year ended 31
December 2024;
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— reviewing the audit plan, audit progress report and significant
audit findings with management at all committee meetings;

— reviewing with management on implementation of the
recommendations on internal control made by the Internal
Control Consultant; and

— reviewing the risk management and internal control of the
Group.

The Committee is satisfied with the review of the work of
external auditors, their audit fees, results of their audits and has
recommended to the Board their re-appointment for the financial
year ending on 31 December 2025 at the 2025 AGM. It was also
reported that there were no material change in nature and extent
of significant risks (including ESG risks) as compared with that of
last year and the Company can respond to the market changes in
its business and external environment.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the Group and
has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. During the
financial year ended 31 December 2024, the Company Secretary
has duly complied with the relevant professional training
requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules which requires
the Company Secretary to take no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training. The biographical details of the Company
Secretary are set out in the section headed "DIRECTORS" AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S PROFILES" in this annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend
Policy"”), pursuant to which the Company may declare and
distribute dividends to the Shareholders. A decision to declare
and pay any dividends would require the approval of the Board
and will be at their discretion. The Board may from time to time
determine and pay to the Shareholders such interim dividends
as it considers appropriate. The Board may recommend the
payment of final dividends which are required to be approved by
the Shareholders in general meetings.
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DIVERSITY
Current composition of the workforce
The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the

Group. The following table sets out the gender ratio in the
workforce of the Group as at the date of this annual report.

2T
BRTE AR
AABERAEESHEENERZTME - T

REJANEBRAFRABN2EE T LR
LAl o

Number of Employees ETIEH

Number of Proportion
Employees of total
Involved workforce
i REHE B TS H

Gender Diversity MBI Tk
Male 5 778 54.6%
Female 8 646 45.4%

The Company will keep on achieving and improving its gender
diversity across all levels of the Group (in both composition
of the Board and the workforce) with reference to the current
workforce available in the market and experience required for the
Company's future development. The plan for gender diversity
in our workforce and the Board will continue to achieve more
balance of gender diversity in the future.

Policies for Whistleblowing and Anticorruption

The Company has established a system for employees to
report concerns of about any suspected or actual improprieties
relating to the Group. The working committee comprising the
Director, Chief Financial Officer and Head of Human Resources
is responsible for evaluating every report received and deciding if
a full investigation is necessary. The Group will take appropriate
actions against such improprieties and, where appropriate,
report the cases to the relevant authorities.
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Apart from the channels set out in the relevant policies, the
Company has provided a separate email link on its website,
by which stakeholders can freely provide comments and
suggestions on the operations of the Company so that proper
actions can be taken to address issues being raised. The
reported cases, where necessary, will be escalated to the Board
for consideration and discussion.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company recognises the importance of communication
with the Shareholders, both individual and institutional as well
as potential investors. The Company adopted a Shareholders
Communication Policy with an aim of ensuring that the
Shareholders are provided with timely information about the
Company and enabling them to engage actively with the
Company and to exercise their rights in an informed manner.

The AGM also provides a good opportunity for communication
between the Board and the Shareholders. The Chairman of the
Board, the Chairman of the respective Committees as well as the
external auditors are normally present to answer questions as
raised by the Shareholders. Notice of the AGM and the related
circular are sent to the Shareholders at least 20 clear business
days before the meeting.

Votes of the Shareholders at general meeting will be taken by
poll in accordance with the Listing Rules. Detailed procedures
for conducting a poll will be explained to the Shareholders
at the beginning of the general meeting to ensure that the
Shareholders are familiar with the voting procedures. Each issue
will be proposed by a separate resolution by the Chairman of the
general meeting. The poll results will be posted on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange on the same day of
the general meeting. Each general meeting, other than an AGM,
shall be called an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM").
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RRBBARRAFEI RS NREF RAER

Procedures and right for the Shareholders to convene EGM

- BRRBHIREBE—ZXZHBBRERNFER

— An EGM shall be convened on the requisition of one or

more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the
requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company (the "Eligible Shareholder(s)”) having the
right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be
made in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary for
the purpose of requiring an EGM to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition
and such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition;

The requisition must state clearly the names of the Eligible
Shareholders concerned, specify the objects of the meeting,
and be signed by the Eligible Shareholders concerned. The
Eligible Shareholders must prove their shareholdings in the
Company to the satisfaction of the Company;

The requisition will be verified with Hong Kong branch share
registrar and transfer office of the Company and upon their
confirmation that the requisition is proper and in order, the
Board will convene an EGM by serving sufficient notice
in accordance with the requirements under the Articles
of Association to all the registered Shareholders. On the
contrary, if the requisition has been verified as not in order
or the Shareholders concerned have failed to deposit
sufficient money to meet the Company’s expenses for the
said purposes, the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned will be
advised of this outcome and accordingly, the Board will not
call for an EGM; and

If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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There are no provisions allowing shareholders to move new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Act (as
revised) of Cayman Islands. However, pursuant to the Articles of
Association, Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may by
means of requisition convene an EGM.

Specific enquiries and suggestions by the Shareholders can be
sent in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary at the
Company'’s registered office. Shareholders are encouraged to
access to the Company website at http://www.cirtek.com for
all relevant information including Company’s announcements,
press releases, financial highlights, the Company’s constitutional
documents and detailed procedures for the Shareholders to
convene meetings.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has a proactive policy for promoting investor
relations and communications by maintaining a regular dialogue
with investors and other stakeholders. The Company's
website at http://www.cirtek.com also features a dedicated
Investor Relations section to facilitate communication with
the Shareholders and investors. Corporate information and
other relevant financial and non-financial information are made
available electronically and in a timely manner.

Save for the adoption of the Articles of Association upon
the Listing, since the Listing Date and up to the date of this
annual report, there had been no significant changes in the
constitutional documents of the Company. The Articles of
Association is available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company during the year was
investment holding. The principal activities of the Group during
the year were manufacture and sale of apparel products, such
as hang tags, woven labels, printed labels and heat transfer
products. There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Group's principal activities during the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A discussion and review in the business activities of the Group,
including a description of the principal risks and uncertainties
faced by the Group and an indication of the likely future
development of the Group’s business, are set out in the sections
headed “Chairman’s statement” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” on pages 5 to 7 and pages 8 to 18 of this annual
report, respectively. Certain key performance indicators, a
discussion on the Group’s environment policies and performance
and its compliance with the relevant laws and regulations, and
an account of the Group's relationship with its key stakeholders
are included in the “Management Discussion and Analysis”. The
Company will also publish its standalone Environmental, Social
and Governance Report for the year ended 31 December 2024
on the websites of the Stock Exchange in due course. These
discussions form part of this “Report of the Directors”. The
financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group
are shown in note 37 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year
and the Company's and the Group's financial positions at that
date are set out in the financial statements on pages 59 to 61.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend in cash
of HKO.75 cents per ordinary share for the financial year ended
31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). The final dividend is conditional
upon the passing of the relevant resolution by the Shareholders
at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the “2025 AGM”) to
be held on Friday, 20 June 2025.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the Group’s financial information for FY2024 is set
out on page 4 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company's share capital during the
year are set out in note 28 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

None of the Directors are interested in any business apart from
the Group's business which competes or is likely to compete,
directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group pursuant to
Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules during FY2024.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company did not have any connected transactions which
were subject to the requirement under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules during the year. The related party transactions are
disclosed in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.
MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of

the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during FY2024.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES
OF THE COMPANY (INCLUDING SALE OF TREASURY
SHARES)

During FY2024, the Company repurchased a total of 10,410,000
shares of the Company (the “Shares”) for an aggregate
consideration of HK$416,400 on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, all of the purchased Shares are held as treasury
shares (as defined in the Listing Rules). As at the 31 December
2024, the Company held 10,410,000 treasury shares, details of
the Shares repurchase during FY 2024 are as follows:

R2024BREE - ARRARBEBHER S
FrERRAA AEKRE4L16,4008 LB R A
$£10,410,000 8 AR BB D (TR 1) » BT
EEEBRGHERETRD (EER LEMH
B RTE - 20245128318 * ARRIEA
10,410,000R% EEF A& 1D + 202481 BN X 8
EIRR 5 BFFIBT -

Number of
Shares Purchase Aggregate
Month Repurchased Price Amount
y=Rvi) BEROEE BEE HEEE
HK$ HK$
BIT BT
July 2024 10,410,000 0.04 416,400
2024%7H
Total 10,410,000 416,400
et

Save as disclosed, neither the Company, nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, redeemed or sold any of the
Company's listed securities (including sale of treasury shares (as
defined in the Listing Rules) during FY2024.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles
of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares during
FY2024.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and in note 30 to the financial
statements, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2024, the Company's reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act
(as revised) of the Cayman lIslands, amounted to approximately
HK$212.7 million (2023: HK$212.6 million). The share premium
of the Company is available for distribution or paying dividends
to the shareholders provided that immediately following the
distribution or the payment of dividends, the Company is able to
pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 17 June 2025 to Friday, 20 June 2025 (both days
inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the
2025 AGM, all properly completed transfer forms accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 16 June
2025.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 26 June 2025 to Friday, 27 June 2025 (both days
inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all
properly completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at
17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 25 June 2025.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers accounted for approximately 8.7% (2023: 9.0%) of
the total sales for the year and sales to the largest customer
included therein amounted to 4.1% (2023: 5.5%). Purchases
from the Group's five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 19.2% (2023: 10.0%) of the total purchases for
the year and purchase from the largest supplier included therein
amounted to 8.2% (2023: 3.5%). None of the Directors of the
Company or any of their associates or any shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5.0% of the
Company's issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in
the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ¢ 2024 Annual Report

A R e

HZE2024F12/8318 @ ARARWAH DR
HEEASHEAEEEINFE)NA
212,700,000 7T (20234 : 212,600,000
JL) ° ANA BRI IR0 5 B Al R ERR B o IR SR
NFRRE - iREEERKREED KKK
TRE®E  AAGDAEIRBBEBKBE
FEZEIHNES -

gEREROBFETFE

ANE#EFR2026F6 178 (28 =) =2025
F6H20R(ER) (BERMRBEAN)E
ERERMBFERLTE  HETSHET
AR DBEELRL - BFAEREE2025F
HBEFASUTRE ERE  IAEHZBPE
RERABBEIREETER2025F6 H168 (2
H—) T =+ oRXRERARREBRMN B
FEROESEBHFEZLARAR @ it A
EBEREICHERESHFPLI7E -

ANF| 20256 426 H (2 8]/0) £2025
F6H27H(EHA) (EEMARBELAN)Y
EREROHBEERLFE  HETS BT
AIRHBBPER - A EREIREZ K
S FTBEEZBFPFRREREGEREERET
BER2026F6 A28 (28 =) T TN =+
DERERADNFBBROBFERLDBEER
FELARAR - MU AFBEREI6HIR
HE A7 o

IREFREED

REBFARN  AEBERAAEFLIERZH
EREAFEHEBIELHS. 7% (2023F :
9.0%) MEFPMEAFFIELZHEREA
4.1% (20234 : 5.5%) » AREE R R AHE
BEH ZEEBEEAFEBREATEN19.2%
(20234 : 10.0%) ' MEFRMEANHER
EH 2 B E X A8.2% (20234 : 3.56%) °
BARNFERREE 2 BB A TR
H(AEBEEMAEAARA B BITRALE
0% E)VNAEBRAAZF LIEEETHAS
T TR -



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chan Sing Ming Barry
Ms. Law Miu Lan

Mr. Chan Tsz Fung

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. LAM Chor Ki Dick

Mr. LEE Tak Cheong

Ms. LUK Mei Yan

In accordance with article 108(a) of the Articles of Association,
one-third of the directors for the time being, or, if their number
is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to
but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every director (including those appointed for a
specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. A retiring director shall be eligible for
re-election. The Company at the general meeting at which a
director retires may fill the vacated office. According to Article
112 of the Articles of Association, any Director appointed by the
Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only
until the next following annual general meeting of the Company
and shall then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with the Article of Association, each of Mr. Chan
Sing Ming Barry and Ms. Luk Mei Yan will retire at the 2025
AGM and all of them, being eligible, will offer themselves for
reelection at the 2025 AGM.

The Company has received annual confirmations of
independence from Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick, Mr. Lee Tak Cheong
and Ms. Luk Mei Yan, and as at the date of this report still
considers them to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S PROFILES
Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Sing Ming Barry (BREEEA), aged 65, being one of
our Controlling Shareholders and Chairman of our Board, was
appointed as our managing director in February 1992 and
appointed as our Director on 25 January 2019 and re-designated
as our executive Director on 21 February 2020. Mr. Barry Chan
is the chairman of the Nomination Committee and the director
of a number of subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Barry Chan
is responsible for our Group's overall management, corporate
development and strategic planning. He obtained a higher
certificate in fashion and clothing manufacture from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University (formerly known as Hong Kong
Polytechnic) in November 1984.

Mr. Barry Chan has over 42 years of experience in the apparel
labels and trim products manufacturing industry. Mr. Barry Chan
is the spouse of Ms. Candy Law and the father of Mr. James
Chan, who are both our executive Directors.

Ms. Law Miu Lan (&), aged 62, being one of our Controlling
Shareholders, was appointed as our assistant managing director
in September 1994, our Chief Executive Officer and Director on
17 May 2019 and was re-designated as our executive Director on
21 February 2020. Ms. Candy Law is responsible for our Group's
overall management, operation and strategic planning. She
obtained a higher certificate in fashion and clothing manufacture
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University (formerly known as
Hong Kong Polytechnic) in November 1984.

Ms. Candy Law has over 39 years of experience in the apparel
labels and trim products manufacturing industry. Ms. Candy Law
is the spouse of Mr. Barry Chan and the mother of Mr. James
Chan, who are both our executive Directors.
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Mr. Chan Tsz Fung (FR#¥1£), aged 35, joined our Group in
October 2013 as an operations assistant and is currently a
product development manager of Charming Printing Limited,
a subsidiary of the Group (“Charming Printing”). He was
appointed as our Director on 17 May 2019 and was re-designated
as our executive Director on 21 February 2020. Mr. James
Chan is also a member of the Nomination Committee and
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. James
Chan has over five years of experience in the apparel labels
and trim products manufacturing industry. He is primarily
responsible for overseeing the product development, marketing
and strategic planning of our Group, in particular our Group's
sales and marketing activities in Europe. He studied diploma of
engineering at Deakin University from February 2011 to February
2012. He is the son of Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. Candy Law, our
executive Directors.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick (##%), aged 59, was appointed as
an independent non-executive Director on 21 February 2020
and is currently a member of each of the Audit Committee and
Nomination Committee of the Company. He graduated from
the Hong Kong Baptist University with a bachelor’'s degree in
business administration in November 1990. He then obtained the
master of arts in electronic business from the City University of
Hong Kong in November 2003.

From July 1990 to October 2000, Mr. Lam held various
accounting and finance positions in a number of companies
including AIA Group Limited, Inchcape Marketing Ltd., LeaRonal
(S.E.Asia) Ltd., Elite Business Machines Mfg. Co. Ltd., Dong
Ying Computer Label & Embroidery Company Limited and AFG
Company Limited. From November 2000 to January 2005, Mr.
Lam served as a financial controller at Lexmark International
(China) Co., Ltd., a company principally engages in the provision
of printing and imaging products and software solutions
services. From January 2005 to December 2005, he worked
as a financial controller at Fellowes Consulting LLC Dongguan
Representative Office, a company principally manufactures
paper shredders. From January 2006 to November 2008, Mr.
Lam worked as a director at Electrical Components International
Inc., a company principally manufactures wire harness, with
his last position being a finance and administrative director and
was the director of business administration at ECI (Huizhou).
From December 2008 to October 2010, Mr. Lam served as an
operation controller at Shakespeare (Hong Kong) Ltd., a company
principally manufactures sports hardware. From November 2010
to January 2012, he served as a consultant at Resources Global
Professionals (HK) Limited, a consultancy firm. Mr. Lam has
served as a vice president of the asian operation department in
ECI (Huizhou) since February 2012.
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Mr. Lee Tak Cheong (Z£ &), aged 54, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 21 February 2020 and
is currently the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee,
a member of each of the Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee of the Company. Mr. Lee graduated from the
University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree in engineering
in November 1993. He then obtained a postgraduate diploma in
quality management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University
in November 2000. In December 2003, Mr. Lee obtained a
master’s degree in business administration from The Chinese
University of Hong Kong.

From April 2004 to December 2007, Mr. Lee worked as a
general manager overseeing factory management at Mansfield
Manufacturing Co. Ltd., a company primarily engaged in metal
stamping business. From December 2007 to June 2009, he
served as a general manager at Top Link Industrial Co. Ltd., a
company primarily manufactures electric powered tools. From
September 2009 to August 2014, Mr. Lee started working as
a general manager at Charming Printing and was promoted as
an operational director in April 2012. From October 2014 to the
present, Mr. Lee has been serving as a director overseeing the
business management at Dreamcubics 3D Printing Limited, a
company primarily sells 3D printers and provides 3D printing
service.

Ms. Luk Mei Yan (3% %), aged 60, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 25 June 2021 and is
currently the Chairman of Audit Committee, a member of each
of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee
of the Company. Ms. Luk acquired her bachelor of commerce
(accounting) from Curtin University of Technology in August
1996 and associate diploma in accounting from Adeliade College
of TAFE in Australia in May 1993. Ms. Luk was admitted as
a certified practicing accountant of the Australian Society of
Certified Practising Accountants in March 1998 and was certified
as an associate of Hong Kong Society of Accountants (currently
known as Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants) in
July 1998.

From November 2013 to December 2016, Ms. Luk was
appointed as an independent non-executive director and the
chairman of the audit committee in Eprint Group Limited
(Stock code: 1884). From July 2008 to March 2019, she had
also worked as the group financial controller of Golden Sun
Home Products Limited. Since February 2020, she has served
as accounting manager in Advanced Finishing Systems (HK)
Limited.
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Senior Management

Mr. Chew Yong Hock (/E#18), aged 66, was appointed as the
sales and marketing director of Charming Printing in July 2012.
Mr. Chew obtained a higher stage certificate in salesmanship
and sales management from The London Chamber of Commerce
and Industry in spring 1984. Mr. Chew has more than 32 years of
experience in the apparel labels and trim products manufacturing
industry.

Mr. Fung Hong Keung (5E®), aged 62, was appointed as
Chief Financial Officer of Charming Printing in February 2021.
From 1992 to 2011, Mr. Fung held various financial position in a
number of companies including Integrated Display Technology
Limited, a subsidiary of IDT International Limited (a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
167)), Sanmina-SCl (China) Limited, a subsidiary of Sanmina-
SCI (NASDAQ stock code: SANM) and a subsidiary of Fountain
Set (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 420). During the period from
2011 to 2012, Mr Fung worked as the Chief corporate service
officer of £EE 1 CFYI) FEWBR AR, a subsidiary of the Hong
Kong Productivity Council. From 2012 to 2016, Mr Fung worked
as executive director, chief financial officer, company secretary
at eprint Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code:1884), which primarily
engaged in supplying online printing services and customized
printed products. From 2017 to 2020, Mr Fung worked as chief
financial officer at Tung Chit Tobacco (H.K) Company Limited, a
subsidiary of Tung Chit Group Limited, which primarily engaged
in distribution and manufacturing of PRC-branded cigarettes.

Mr. Fung obtained a bachelor degree of arts in accountancy from
the Bolton University of Higher Education in the United Kingdom
in October 2003, and a graduate diploma in China marketing
and e-business from the University of Hong Kong School of
Professional and Continuing Education in November 2004. He
was awarded the Professional diploma in Corporate Governance
and Directorship from the Hong Kong Institute of Directors and
Hong Kong Productivity Council in November 2012. He has
been a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants since December 2004, a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since January 2005, and
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors since January
2013.
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Mr. Richard Phillip Ringeisen, aged 66, was appointed as the
president of Charming US in February 2011 and is the director
of Charming US. Mr. Ringeisen studied at the Western Michigan
University from 1979 to 1980. Prior to joining our Group, Mr.
Ringeisen worked as a western region sales manager at US
Label Corporation, a company primarily sells and markets apparel
identification products, from 1999 to 2001. Mr. Ringeisen
worked as a sales manager in the western region of the United
States at Alkahn Labels Inc, a company primarily engaged in the
sales business, from 2001 to 2003. Mr. Ringeisen then worked
as a vice president at 28 Packaging Inc, a company primarily
engaged in the sales and marketing business from 2003 to 2008.
He later worked as a vice president at Integra Trim, a company
primarily engaged in the sales and marketing business from 2008
to 2010 where he was responsible for overseeing and managing
the sales business of the company.

Mr. Liao Wenwei (B3 {&), aged 56, was appointed as the
general manager of Charming China in August 2009. He obtained
a diploma in business administration from the Huizhou University
in July 1997. From April 1992 to July 2000, Mr. Liao worked as
a salesman at Huizhou Jiangbei Building Material Company*
(BN I EM A F]), a company primarily engaged in the
trading business, with his last position being a manager. Mr.
Liao then worked as a factory manager at Boluo County Shiwan
Chuangmei Printing Factory* (82 % A 8| from
August 2000 to July 2009.

Company Secretary

Mr. Chan Wai Shing Kevin (BR{/X), aged 50, was appointed
as the finance and accounts manager of Charming Printing in
February 2016 and the company secretary on 17 May 2019. Mr.
Chan obtained a diploma in accounting from Hong Kong Shue
Yan University (formerly known as Shue Yan College) in July
1998. He was then awarded a diploma in operating business
in China and a diploma in professional management for China
business from the City University of Hong Kong in April 2004
and October 2004, respectively. Mr. Chan has been a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
since August 2008 and a member of The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administration since February 2010. In view of
Mr. Chan’s experience in legal and company secretarial functions
and with stock exchange rules and regulations, our Directors
believe that Mr. Chan has the appropriate expertise for the
purposes of Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules.

* for identification purposes only
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2025 AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by
the Company within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Board with reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the
provisions of the Companies Act (as revised) of the Cayman
Islands, every Director or other officer of the Company shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of assets of the Company against
all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about
the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in relation
thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate directors’
and officers' liability insurance coverage for the Directors and
officers of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No Director nor a connected entity of a Director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of
the Group to which the Company or any of the Company’s
subsidiaries was a party during the year.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

A. Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or short
positions in shares and underlying shares of the
Company or its associated corporations

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the
shares of the Company (“Shares”), underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO")) which (a) were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which they have taken, or are deemed to
have taken, under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company; or (c)
were required, pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
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Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code"), to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as

follows:

Long positions in shares of the Company or any of its

associated corporations

Approximate
percentage of

the Company's/
the associate
Company/ Number and company’s
name of associated Nature of interest class of total issued
Name of director company and capacity securities share capital
AN/
Hir =418 j
BRTRAERE
BENS AAE/BEDRER ERMERSN EAHARER AR
Chan Sing Ming Barry The Company Interest in a controlled 1,308,000,000 65.4%
("Mr. Barry Chan") ~ corporation (Note 1) (Note 2) shares
RER(REALE])  ARA SEERER(E)(H#2)  1,308,000,0008%8% 1
Charming International Limited Beneficial owner 51 shares of 51.0%
("Charming International ") US$1.00 each
Charming International Limited ERBEA 51K
([ Charming International |) BR1.00E T
Law Miu Lan The Company Interest in a controlled 1,308,000,000 65.4%
("Ms. Candy Law") ~ corporation Note 1) (Note 2) shares
BYB((BY#zL]) ARA PR EBER (1) (rit2) 1,308,000,0008 1 17
Charming International Beneficial owner 49 shares of 49.0%
US$1.00 each
ERBAA 49k
it1.00E TR
Chan Tsz Fung The Company Beneficial owner 12,000,000 0.6%
shares
FRire YN EREAA 12,000,0008 & (7
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Notes:

1. Each of Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. Candy Law owns as to 51% and 49% of
the issued share capital of Charming International which, in turn, holds
1,308,000,000 Shares. Accordingly, Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. Candy Law
are deemed to be interested in 1,308,000,000 Shares held by Charming
International by virtue of the disclosure requirements of the SFO.

2. Mr. Barry Chan is the spouse of Ms. Candy Law. Accordingly, Mr. Barry
Chan and Ms. Candy Law are deemed to be interested in the Shares held
by each other by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of
the Directors and/or chief executive of the Company nor their
associates had or was deemed to have any interests or short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of
the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
and short positions which each of them has taken or deemed
to have taken under the SFO), or which would be required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register required to be kept therein or which would be
required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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B. Substantial shareholders’ and other persons’ interests

and/or short positions in the Shares and underlying
Shares of the Company

As at the date of this annual report, the following persons
(other than the Directors or the chief executive of the
Company) have interests of 5% or more in the Shares and
underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in the register
of interests required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company

B. FERRKRHEMATRARTRGD KR

Rz B RHKE

RAFHAH U TAL(EFHEARQF
FETBABBRINRARRBRND &IAEH
B HEACARRAIREE 75 NS F
I 3361RBFE 2 B LM 5%k
A e

Approximate
percentage of
the Company’s

Capacity/ total issued

Name of shareholder nature of interest Number of shares share capital
RN

BRITIRALE

RREE 5 REEME ROEE O E =
Charming International Beneficial interest (Note) 1,308,000,000 65.4%

Bt (M)

Note:

Each of Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. Candy Law owns as to 51% and 49% of
the issued share capital of Charming International which, in turn, holds
1,308,000,000 Shares. Accordingly, Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. Candy Law
are deemed to be interested in 1,308,000,000 Shares held by Charming
International by virtue of the disclosure requirements of the SFO.

Short positions in shares of the Company or any of its
associated corporations

As at 31 December 2024, no person, other than the Directors
and chief executive of the Company, whose interests are set
out in the section headed “Directors’ and chief executive's
interests and/or short positions in Shares and underlying
Shares of the Company” above, had registered an interest
or a short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company as recorded in the register of interests required to
be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme on 21
February 2020 (the “Share Option Scheme”). On 15 September
2020, the Company granted a total of 2,000,000 shares options
with an exercise price of HK$0.057 per share under the Share
Option Scheme to one of our senior management carrying rights
to subscribe for up to a total of 2,000,000 ordinary shares of the
Company under the Share Option Scheme. The details are set
out in note 29 to the financial statements. 50% of the 2,000,000
share options granted shall be exercisable from 31 December
2021 (instead of 1 January 2022) to 14 September 2025, and
the remaining 50% shall be exercisable from 31 December
2023 (instead of 1 January 2024) to 14 September 2025. The
2,000,000 share options granted are valid for 5 years from the
date of grant (up to 14 September 2025). The said share options
granted will lapse automatically if not exercised within the
validity period. The closing price of the Shares before the date
of grant of the share options under the Share Option Scheme
was HK$0.059. As at the date of the Annual Report, 200,000,000
Shares are available for issue under the Share Option Scheme,
representing approximately 10.0% of the total number of Shares
in issue (i.e. 2,000,000,000 Shares as at the date of the Annual
Report). Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme and Rule 17.03(5)
of the Listing Rules, the Shares under an option granted under
the Share Option Scheme must be taken up within 10 years from
the date of grant of the option. No share options were granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed during FY2024.

The maximum number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group must
not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the
Company from time to time. No options may be granted under
any schemes of the Company or the subsidiary of the Company
if such grant will result in the maximum number being exceeded.
The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Scheme and any other
schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the Shares in issue (i.e. 200,000,000 Shares as at the date of
this annual report). Options lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the Scheme or any other schemes will not be counted for the
purpose of calculating the 10% limit.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options granted under Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Group (including both exercised
and outstanding options) to each participant in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares then in issue. Any
further grant of the options in excess of this limit is subject to
Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting. Each grant of option
under the Scheme to a Director, chief executive or substantial
Shareholder, or to any of their associates, is subject to approval
in advance by the independent non-executive Directors. In
addition, any grant of option under the Scheme to a substantial
Shareholder or an independent non-executive Director, or to
any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the Shares in issue
at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of
the Company’'s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period, are subject to Shareholders’
approval in advance in a general meeting.

An option may be accepted by a participant within 28 days from
the date of the grant of the option. The Directors may, at their
absolute discretion, fix any minimum period for which an option
must be held, any performance targets that must be achieved
and any other conditions that must be fulfilled before the options
can be exercised upon the grant of an option to a participant.

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any option
granted under the Scheme, subject to any adjustments made
in accordance with the Share Option Scheme, shall be such
price as the Board in its absolute discretion shall determine,
provided that such price shall not be less than the highest of (i)
the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business days (as
defined in the Listing Rules) immediately preceding the date of
grant of the option (which must be a business day (as defined in
the Listing Rules)); (ii) the closing price of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
grant of the option (which must be a business day (as defined
in the Listing Rules)); and (iii) the nominal value of the Shares. A
consideration of HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance of the offer
of the grant of an option.

The Scheme is effective for a period of 10 years commencing on
the Listing Date.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no equity-linked
agreement was entered into by or subsisted in the Company,
and there was no provision to enter into any agreement which
will or may result in the Company issuing shares during the year.

DIRECTOR’S RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” above, at no time during the year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors of the Company or chief executives or any of their
spouse or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued Shares was held by the public as at the
date of this report.

AUDITORS

The Company has appointed Ernst & Young as the auditor of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2024. Ernst & Young
will retire and a resolution for their reappointment as auditors of
the Company will be proposed at the 2025 AGM.

By Order of the Board
Chan Sing Ming Barry
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong

31 March 2025
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Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King's Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

EY:

To the shareholders of Cirtek Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Cirtek Holdings Limited (the “Company") and its subsidiaries
(the "Group") set out on pages 59 to 176, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code"), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the
basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated
financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

BRETSEIR

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

85 BWFRRRER 4

As at 31 December 2024, the Group recorded trade
receivables of approximately HK$60,134,000 before
impairment of HK$2,572,000. Under HKFRS 9,
the Group accounted for the impairment of trade
receivables with an expected credit loss (“ECL")
approach. The measurement on the Group’'s trade
receivables under the ECL approach was estimated by
management through the application of judgements
and use of highly subjective assumptions. The impact
of current economic factors, and forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors were also considered
in management’'s assessment of the likelihood of
recovery from customers.

R2024F 128318 - EBEXEHEEEFHFERERIELD
60,134,000/ 7t (F0BR A 1E2,572,00078 0 AT ) © IRIFHE
B EREoS: - EBESEBEUEHEEEE(EHE
EBETEHEZRWREREAR - LEHEEEE
FEETE BEEEZEZEWHRENHEEESBERAE
EeEFBREELMGT - BEEFKRER S RIEH A 8
MATERHETMEZE R B RIKBER RN EUREB AN
EREMHEE -

Due to the significance of trade receivables and the
application of significant judgement and estimates, we
considered it as a key audit matter.
HRESERFEBEKL - BEREREAHE R - &
EERBERBERETSEIE -

The related disclosures are included in notes 4 and 21
to the consolidated financial statements.

ERBRBESENGAMBHRMTAR21 -
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BRETSE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENBF N EEBRETSE

Our audit procedures included assessing the controls
over the monitoring of trade receivables; evaluating
the methodologies, inputs and assumptions used
by the Group in calculating the ECLs; obtaining an
understanding of and discussing with management
on the judgement used under the ECL approach;
assessing historical loss pattern and reviewing
subsequent settlements after the year end; and
assessing the current economic condition and
forward-looking information by checking the economic
indicators.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
BB

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

BARETSER

Provision for inventories

FERE

As at 31 December 2024, the Group recorded
inventories of approximately HK$83,227,000 and
write-down of inventories to net realisable value of
HK$3,248,000 was recognised during the year. The
write-down of inventories to net realisable value was
estimated by management through the application
of judgement and the use of highly subjective
assumptions, such as the estimated selling price.
202412 A31H - B&E51FE 483,227,000
BT WRFNEREE MR E A #17)%(E3,248,000%
T FEMAENERFENREEEERERANB RS
ExBRBEL G (WEFTHEER) -

The related disclosures are included in notes 4 and 20
to the consolidated financial statements.

BERBRBEHN A M BHRRME4R20 -

BRETSEE(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
EENBETT IR ERRETSE

Our audit procedures included obtaining an
understanding of management’'s controls over
identifying and valuing obsolete, damaged, slow-
moving, excess and other inventory items whose
costs may not be fully recoverable; evaluating the
methodologies, inputs and assumptions used by
the Group in calculating the provision; assessing the
inventory provision by reviewing subsequent sales and
usage after the year end and checking the latest selling
prices; and observing physical condition of inventories
by performing physical inventory inspection.

EENBTEFEEBRREREHNEBANRE - 181
W BRIRKARN—FEA 28BN EMEFEER &
MULETHENEZERNE I EXERTERER
FAAE WABREBR  EARNFREEHNARHEE
RERABEATEEERBERREROAHEER UK
FRETEVFEREHEFENEENRNR -

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is
made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal
control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’'s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in @ manner that achieves fair presentation.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

e Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a
basis for forming an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and review of the audit work performed for purposes of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Fok Lai Ching.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

31 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

= A4S 3L
,%/T\:lig\ﬁﬁ

Year ended 31 December 2024
HZE2024512A31HIEFE

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
b5 FERT FET
REVENUE = 6 551,049 372,310
Cost of sales SHE KA (280,430) (209,757)
Gross profit EF 270,619 162,553
Other income and gains Hip g A Rz 6 5,698 6,061
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEBX (61,243) (59,524)
Administrative expenses THHX (135,638) (121,050)
Other operating income/(expenses), Hfth&&U A/ (FxX)
net FEE (2,433) 4,067
Impairment of non-financial assets  JES BEE A - (8,065)
Finance costs B A& B AR 8 (2,364) (3,164)
Share of profits/(losses) of an 7l — B E & R A
associate =R (BE) 108 (528)
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX BB ATEFR(Eia) 7 74,747 (19,650)
Income tax expense Frig iR 11 (12,888) (6,026)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR AKAREEAELER
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF E=R(EE)
THE COMPANY 61,859 (25,676)
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE AAREBREAFEA HK cents HK cents
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EiEERER(&HE) Al AL
EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE COMPANY
— Basic —HAK 13 3.10 (1.28)
HK cents HK cents
Al B
— Diluted — e 3.10 (1.28)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

= A =
FETHEWER
Year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024512A31HIEFE

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR FRRF(EE) 61,859 (25,676)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS Hibh2mER
Other comprehensive loss that REZBEETEENDES
may be reclassified to profit or loss in BREOEMEEmERE :
subsequent periods:
Exchange differences: MEHZFE -
Exchange differences on translation of BEBINETSEER
foreign operations, net ME N ZFFE (10,541) (14,560)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE AABREEARLER
INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 2HEWE (&8 ) 2858
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF
THE COMPANY 51,318 (40,236)
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As at 31 December 2024
A2024412A31H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Prepayments and deposits
Goodwill
Other intangible assets
Financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss
Investment in an associate
Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories

Trade receivables

Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Tax recoverable

Pledged deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Trade payables

Other payables and accruals
Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Lease liabilities

Tax payable

Total current liabilities
NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS
CURRENT LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables

Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Lease liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities

Total non-current liabilities
Net assets
EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners of

the Company
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity

ERBEE
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IE {1 BIE B 12
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RBEEFE
EELBERADES
FRBEE
HoAth & {308

SERITER
HEAE

FRBAERE
BEFE

7

3

o
SSB

AR ARG ER

e | B
BX | 3B
P
R
o

CHAN Sing Ming Barry [REZ8H

Chairman and Executive Director

TERPITEE

Notes

P &

20
21

22

23
23

24
25
26
15

28
30

2023
20234
HK$'000
FET

141,157
31,038
2,671

675

5,940
5,681
506

187,668

70,163
44,912

17,877

72
14,575
34,158

181,757

57,323
51,167
21,784
10,401
12,484

153,159
28,598

216,266

3,417
1,331
14,664
1,822

21,234
195,032

20,000
175,032

195,032

LAW Miu Lan ZEYE

Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

TTEAB R ARANTTEE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEREREER

Year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024F12A31 B IEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

62

KAREEAEL
Share  Exchange
Share Share  Treasury Merger option fluctuation  Retained Total
capital  premium shares  reserve  reserve  reserve profits equity
HERE
BE  ROGE EFRRG SiEE BRERE e RERN BREE
HK$'000  HKS' 000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TEr  TEr  TEn  TAr  TEx  TEx TEr TEx
(note 28) (note 30(c))  (note 28) (note 30(a))  [note 29) (note 30(b))
(Wit28) (Mitsoe)  (Mii2s) (MEE30@)  (MiEE29) (B3t3olb)
1 January 2023 202381818 20,000 277,051 - (193,538) 42 (18,530) 154,235 239,260
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - (25676) (25,676
Other comprehensive ERAMZEESR
loss for the year
Exchange differences on BERNEREEN
translation of foreign EREEFE
operations, net - - - - - (14,560) - (14,560)
Total comprehensive loss for the FR2EFRELE

year - - - - - (14,560)  (25,676) (40,236
Equity-settled share option RAEEBRET S

arrangement (note 29) (Mt329) - - - - 8 - = 8
Final dividend REPRS - - = = = S (4,000) (4,000)
At 31 December 2023 and 20235127318 R

1 January 2024 2024F1R18 20,000 277,051* -* (193 ,538)* 50% (33,090)% 124,559* 195,032
Profit for the year ERGEH - - - - - - 61,859 61,859
Other comprehensive FREMZEER

loss for the year

Exchange differences on BENEREEN

translation of foreign EREEFR
operations, net - - - - - (10,541) - (10,541)
Total comprehensive income/  ER2ENEE/ (BB)

(loss) for the year k] - - - - - (10541) 61,859 51,318
Shares repurchased (note 28)  EEBR{ (fitz:28) - - (416) - - - - (416)
At 31 December 2024 120245124318 20,000 277,051% (416)* (193,538)* 50% (43,631)* 186,418* 245,934

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * MNEARBERRERRN ZEHEROESARSG

HK$225,934,000 (2023: HK$175,032,000) in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ¢ 2024 Annual Report
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Year ended 31 December 2024

HE2024F12A31BILFE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Share of profits/(losses) of an
associate
Interest income
Fair value gain on a financial asset
at fair value through profit or loss
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortisation of other intangible
assets
(Gain)/loss on disposal of items
of property, plant and
equipment, net
Gain on early termination of lease
Impairment/(reversal of
impairment) of trade receivables,
net
Impairment of goodwill
Impairment of other intangible
assets
Impairment of investment in
an associate
Provision/(reversal of provision) for
inventories
Equity-settled share option
expense
Amortisation of a government
grant

Increase in inventories
Increase in trade receivables
Increase in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables
Increase in trade payables
Increase in other payables
and accruals

Cash generated from operations

Overseas taxes paid

Net cash flows from operating
activities

Notes
B &E

REEBHRERE

BEERDER(EE)
AT ZBEELFE
& AR 8
Db —REE A A)
wm AL (E1E)
FLEUA 6
AT EFABZAE R
BEZ N EKRR 6
ME - BREMRBITE

CREEENE 7
H b & B 5

HEWE - BER&E
HE /(RSB
HEE 7
RERITHASH RS
B S WA RE,
CRERE );FH

RERE 7
Hip B & ERE

SN N
wERIE 7
FEEE(BERE)

PR G E B AR 2
U o B 2

iSepil
%’%FE'H&Z o 6 128 )
TEFRIE - e RHEME
W SRIEIE AN
B 5 &N FRIEE AN
H {2008 R pE
B R m

REMBRE
BEEINIIR
‘é = /E?@Jﬁﬁ SRE

2023
20234
HK$'000
FHET

(19,650)
3,164

528
(652)

(137)

17,693
12,832

752

217

(176)
361

4,615
3,089

(1,135)

(134)
21,375
(5,135)
(4,744)

(3,094)
5,316

8,042
21,760

(508)

21,252
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FEREeRER

Year ended 31 December 2024
HE2024512A31HIEFE

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Interest received

Purchases of items of property, plant
and equipment, including related
prepayments

Proceeds from disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment

Investment in an associate

Decrease/(increase) in pledged
time deposits

Net cash flows used in investing
activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

New bank loans

Repayment of bank loans

Interest paid

Principal portion of lease payments

Dividend paid

Repurchase of shares

Net cash flows used in financing
activities

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year

Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and bank balances

Non-pledged time deposits with
original maturity of less than three
months when acquired

Cash and cash equivalents as stated
in the statement of financial position

Time deposits with original maturity
of less than three months when
acquired, pledged as security
for bank loans

Bank overdrafts

Cash and cash equivalents as stated
in the statement of cash flows

Cirtek Holdings Limited ¢ 2024 Annual Report
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(32,112)

3,693
(3,061)

(304)

(31,132)

17,863
(19,721
(3,164
(12,026
(4,000

(21,048)

(30,928)
66,346

(1,197)

34,221

34,158

34,158

4,154
(4,091)

34,221



31 December 2024
2024128318

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands. The registered office address of the
Company is P.O. Box 31119 Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus Way,
802 West Bay Road, Grand Cayman KY1-1205, Cayman
Islands. The principal place of business of the Company is
located at 1/F, Wing Ming Industrial Centre, 15 Cheung Yue
Street, Lai Chi Kok, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. During the
year, the Group was principally engaged in the manufacturing
and sale of printing products.

On 12 March 2020, the shares of the Company were listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Charming International Limited (“Charming International”), a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI")
on 2 January 2019, is the immediate holding company of the
Company, and, in the opinion of the Directors, is also the
ultimate holding company of the Company.

RAREEER

RRRRRASHEIMEAZHBER LD
A o AR AR FEMIFEE A AP.O. Box
31119 Grand Pavilion, Hibiscus Way,
802 West Bay Road, Grand Cayman
KY1-1205, Cayman Islands ° AN 2 &) &9
FTEREMBABTBNESARKE
155 KA T E AR O 1E o

RRABR—EREZERAR - REAR - K
SETFENRFLEENHEHNES -

M2020%F3 128 » AR RIRMDRE BB
EARGIAERRAR (BT ERET -

Charming International Limited
([ Charming International | - — & %
2019F 1 A2 ERBRAEE ([ REBR
LEE DFMKZHRE) BEARRNE
BIERAR EERABZARINEEART
CafodaS il /NCII
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA RS HRAR BT

31 December 2024
2024F12H31H

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as

DNEREEER(E)

i~ BRHE R

ARREIEMBABNFBEHINGAT :

follows:
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Company name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
ML ERTEER/
AREBE AR EE AftRA  AAREEEREIL  FEER
Direct Indirect
H# EiEE
Cirtek Investment Limited BVI US$1 100 - Investment holding
EERTHS 1ET REZER
Charming Printing Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100  Sale of printing
EXRIBRAR A% 10,000 7T products
HEDRER
Charming Printing (Boluo) Ltd. People’s Republic of  US$6,234,178 - 100 Manufacturing and sale
(note (a)) China ("PRC") 6,234,178% T of printing products
BRGEXRAERAR (FE(@) HRE AR LANE B RHEEHRIE
(THE]
Charming Trim & Packaging Vietnam US$3,100,000 - 100 Manufacturing and sale
(VN) Co., Ltd. ] 3,100,000% 7T of printing products
B RHEHRIER
Charming Trim & Packaging Company Hong Kong HK$2 - 100  Investment holding
Limited 30 28T REER
Charming Trim & Packaging (BD) Ltd. Bangladesh BDT50,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing and sale
EpliE 50,000,000 of printing products
BIER b EREEORER
Charming Trim (BD) Co. Ltd. Bangladesh BDT5,000,000 - 100  Sale of printing
) Eard 5,000,000 products
BIHER HEERER

Cirtek Holdings Limited ¢ 2024 Annual Report



NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI

31 December 2024
2024128318

1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued) 1.

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

DEREEMEN(E)

MEQRKNENE)

Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Company name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
El A ERITEER
AREH AR EE R IfRA  AAREEEREIL  FEEE
Direct Indirect
E# ik
Charming Trim India Private Limited  India INR100,000 - 100 Manufacturing and sale
fE 100,000 FE Lt of printing products
HERHEDRER
Lowatag Limited Hong Kong HK$150,002 - 100 Investment holding
Bk 150,002/ 7T RERK
Cirtek Link Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100 Investment holding
REBRMRARAA B 10,0007 7T REER
Cirtek Link (Shenzhen) Limited (note  PRC US$1,000,000 - 100  Provision of customer
(b)) HE 1,000,000% T services
BEBEDECRIDAERLR(HFE ) RUEPRE
Charming Trim & Packaging Sociedad Guatemala (GTQ499,900 - 100  Provision of customer
Anonima SN 499,9001E 1 H Hr services
BER RUEPRE
Charming Trim Mexico S. de R.L. de  Mexico MXN2,600,000 - 100  Provision of customer
C.V. =M 2,600,000 F 5 services
e RUE PR

HFEZERERAT © 2024 FERSE
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BA RS HRAR BT

31 December 2024
2024F12H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued) 1. AEREBER(E)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) MEBRaNER (&)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of
registration and registered equity attributable
Company name business share capital to the Company Principal activities
HEMA&L ERITEBR
AREH AR EEm R dftRA  AAREEEREAL  FEEE
Direct Indirect
B B
Print100 Limited Hong Kong HK$15,997,980 = 100 Manufacturing and
E1100EB A7 e 15,997,980 1T sale of printing
products
HERHEDRER
Yinyibai Digital Color Printing PRC RMB100,000 - 100  Product sourcing
(Shenzhen) Co. Limited (note (b)) & AR®100,0007T business
PDEEBEY DRI ERAA L R
(F1zE (b))
Charming Trim Spain, Sociedad Spain EUR5,000 - 100  Provision of customer
Limited [ishlids 5,00080 T services
REE P R
Notes: Bfsx -

(a) This entity is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under the

laws of the PRC.

(b) These entities are registered as limited liability companies under the laws

of the PRC.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ¢ 2024 Annual Report
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS IR R IEE
31 December 2024

2024%12A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") (which include all HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs") and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for a financial asset at
fair value through profit or loss which has been measured
at fair value. These financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand (HK$'000) except when otherwise
indicated.

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an entity (including
a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled
by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group
is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee
(i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of
voting rights results in control. When the Company has
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of
an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an
investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

2.

BHEK

2.1 RBEEE

ZEVBHRRNIERESEHMAE
(f%%ggﬂ‘ﬁﬂi“/ﬂ)ﬁé%ﬂ’]%ﬁéﬂﬁ&
%EE'JU%%W%#&%EE'JJ)(*?
BB BEYHHRELER - B3
ER([HBGTER ) RRB)RE
BRTHER N HEERERE

ZEMBRRTIRESLRAEREL
I’Eiﬁﬁﬁﬁgﬁr/\ﬁ SH) R E E R
RFERTE - ZFEWBRERAET
TE BREEPN  MEBRECDHE
REANTA(FETT) -

REMBHRREBEAEEHE2024%F
12A31B LFENFBHREK - HELQ
AfEHRAR TETK&F'%J B E 8
(BREBILER)  EAKEER2
BT E W ROAARE B M AYE A &
BoERABEEZAAELE - VA
BRENEBHIREHRNESN (BE
FTAEBRAENINTEREHRD
HEEHNREREN) FEZSTE R
B BIR TG IEGIRE -

—RmE T’ETE%E‘K%B/ LREE
HBEEGE - EARRFHEAINERE
HEAZEIREESALERN - AIK
SENFEEHREHRECHAR
NEZRE-—VHEBEERER 2
&

(a) BEREEHREMEERTE AN
BRIZHE
(b) ZREHEAME K LTHERORER]

() NREEMKREENEERERE -
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI M T

31 December 2024
2024F12H31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between shareholders of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, any non-controlling interest and the exchange
fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit
in profit or loss. The Group’'s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI T

31 December 2024
2024128318

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and
HKFRS 16 Leaseback
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the
“2020 Amendments”)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the "2022

Amendments”)
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance
and HKFRS 7 Arrangements

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are
described below:

(@) Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements
that a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease
liability arising in a sale and leaseback transaction
to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any
amount of the gain or loss that relates to the right
of use it retains. Since the Group has no sale and
leaseback transactions with variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate occurring
from the date of initial application of HKFRS 16, the
amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.

SRTEER(E)

22 BHEERDHREE

AEBERAFREPBRERE KRR
THRERTN B BM I RELER -

BRAMBREERR ERBONHERRE

F165% (BFIK)
BRGHRANR 1R RE ERRBA
CHEN, FEnE([2020%F
CHESY)
BREGHENE 1R WEZENHFnE R
CHEN, E([20224
CHESY)
BREHERETR HEBBELH
MERMERE

ERIETH(EFTA)

RIEFTBAMBRELENNMEERE
EHIT

(a) FAEMBHREEMNF 1658 (EFT
R)FTABEA—E&BARTEE %R
HExZPELANHERERE
STERE  MEERET—EMEA
W EREREERE O EAEER
MENEBESE dHRAREE
M ERB AR B REF165E
B DA SR 3 8 B A A A A BUR R K
—HREHRAA XA RN EEE
MRZERBER S - BWEFTA
I 8 SRS W B ISR SR B
BREREE -
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31 December 2024

2024%12A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(Continued)

(b)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or non-current,
including what is meant by a right to defer
settlement and that a right to defer must exist at
the end of the reporting period. Classification of
a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be
settled in its own equity instruments, and that only
if a conversion option in a convertible liability is
itself accounted for as an equity instrument would
the terms of a liability not impact its classification.
The 2022 Amendments further clarify that,
among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for non-current
liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with
future covenants within 12 months after the reporting
period.

The Group has reassessed the terms and conditions
of its liabilities as at 1 January 2023 and 2024 and
concluded that the classification of its liabilities as
current or non-current remained unchanged upon
initial application of the amendments. Accordingly,
the amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and
require additional disclosure of such arrangements.
The disclosure requirements in the amendments
are intended to assist users of financial statements
in understanding the effects of supplier finance
arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and
exposure to liquidity risk. As the Group does not have
supplier finance arrangements, the amendments
did not have any impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI T

31 December 2024
2024128318

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. BEHEEE)
2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial 23 EMEMAKREMNNEBYHRE
Reporting Standards ZE Al
The Group has not applied the following new and revised REBTERZEVERENERT
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, FIEBMHEERERZ T USR]
in these financial statements. The Group intends to apply BB HREER - XEEEHNZE
these new and revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when they FE] RIZERT R BV R EEAER
become effective. R A REER (@A) -
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure EEUBMEEN  HBEFEIHNEIR
in Financial Statements® F18% H &
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without ERMBHRERDY  FLRZAEANE
Public Accountability: F195% NGk
Disclosures?®
Amendments to HKFRS 9  Amendments to the ERTEREER| CHTASEL]ZE
and HKFRS 7 Classification and FORRB BN BIEET A2
Measurement of Financial WELRETH
Instruments? (1BFT )
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of EEVBHREEN REFHEEBENF
and HKAS 28 Assets between an F10R BB RABTEZR
Investor and its Associate YR 085 BEHEXTE
or Joint Venture? CCHEN)
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing BANBREEN  SREAGENES
and HKFRS 7 Nature-dependent FORRB BN LR
Electricity? WEERIETH
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability’ (B3] K)
ARG EUNE2S s g gt
Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS CCHEN)
to HKFRS Accounting 1, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, ERMBRE RN G BBMBRELER
Standards — Volume 11 HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72 R FE e 15 - BEHS
-F11% WEERETH -
BANBREE
Q1595 - HEH
BHREEAF10
SMBAESE
AISE 75 (1BRT A )2
' Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025 T R2025F1 ATHSZBFARZ FEEMAE
i
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026 2 JA2026F 1 B1ASRzEHAZ EEBRBE
3
3 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 3 R2027F 1V AVB R RRRZEE RS
2027 HAR A 3K
4+ No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for 4 EAREERHIAERAE - MR AR
adoption
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI M T

31 December 2024
2024F12H31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards (Continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. While a number of sections have been
brought forward from HKAS 1 with limited changes,
HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements for presentation
within the statement of profit or loss, including specified
totals and subtotals. Entities are required to classify
all income and expenses within the statement of
profit or loss into one of the five categories: operating,
investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued
operations and to present two new defined subtotals.
It also requires disclosures about management-defined
performance measures in a single note and introduces
enhanced requirements on the grouping (aggregation
and disaggregation) and the location of information in
both the primary financial statements and the notes.
Some requirements previously included in HKAS 1 are
moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as
HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements.
As a consequence of the issuance of HKFRS 18, limited,
but widely applicable, amendments are made to HKAS
7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per
Share and HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. In
addition, there are minor consequential amendments
to other HKFRSs. HKFRS 18 and the consequential
amendments to other HKFRSs are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with
earlier application permitted. Retrospective application
is required. The Group is currently analysing the new
requirements and assessing the impact of HKFRS 18 on
the presentation and disclosure of the Group's financial
statements.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI T

31 December 2024
2024128318

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards (Continued)

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply
reduced disclosure requirements while still applying
the recognition, measurement and presentation
requirements in other HKFRSs. To be eligible, at the end
of the reporting period, an entity must be a subsidiary as
defined in HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements,
cannot have public accountability and must have a parent
(ultimate or intermediate) that prepares consolidated
financial statements available for public use which
comply with HKFRSs. Earlier application is permitted. As
the Company is a listed company, it is not eligible to elect
to apply HKFRS 19. Some of the Company’s subsidiaries
are considering the application of HKFRS 19 in their
specified financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments
to the Classification and Measurement of Financial
Instruments clarify the date on which a financial asset
or financial liability is derecognised and introduce an
accounting policy option to derecognise a financial
liability that is settled through an electronic payment
system before the settlement date if specified criteria
are met. The amendments clarify how to assess
the contractual cash flow characteristics of financial
assets with environmental, social and governance
and other similar contingent features. Moreover, the
amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
financial assets with non-recourse features and
contractually linked instruments. The amendments
also include additional disclosures for investments in
equity instruments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income and financial instruments
with contingent features. The amendments shall be
applied retrospectively with an adjustment to opening
retained profits (or other component of equity) at the
initial application date. Prior periods are not required to
be restated and can only be restated without the use of
hindsight. Earlier application of either all the amendments
at the same time or only the amendments related to
the classification of financial assets is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI M T

31 December 2024
2024F12H31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10
and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of
a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction
when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not
constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor's profit or loss
only to the extent of the unrelated investor’'s interest
in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are
to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
was removed by the HKICPA. However, the amendments
are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Contracts
Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity clarify the
application of the “own-use"” requirements for in-scope
contracts and amend the designation requirements for a
hedged item in a cash flow hedging relationship for in-
scope contracts. The amendments also include additional
disclosures that enable users of financial statements
to understand the effects these contracts have on an
entity’s financial performance and future cash flows.
The amendments relating to the own-use exception
shall be applied retrospectively. Prior periods are not
required to be restated and can only be restated without
the use of hindsight. The amendments relating to the
hedge accounting shall be applied prospectively to new
hedging relationships designated on or after the date of
initial application. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 shall be applied
at the same time. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI T

31 December 2024
2024128318

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall
assess whether a currency is exchangeable into another
currency and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate
at a measurement date when exchangeability is lacking.
The amendments require disclosures of information
that enable users of financial statements to understand
the impact of a currency not being exchangeable.
Earlier application is permitted. When applying the
amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative
information. Any cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative
amount of translation differences accumulated in a
separate component of equity, where appropriate, at
the date of initial application. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI M T

31 December 2024
2024F12H31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards
— Volume 11 set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS
7 (and the accompanying Guidance on implementing
HKFRS 7), HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of
the amendments that are expected to be applicable to
the Group are as follows:

e HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The
amendments have updated certain wording in
paragraph B38 of HKFRS 7 and paragraphs I1G1, 1G14
and 1G20B of the Guidance on implementing HKFRS
7 for the purpose of simplification or achieving
consistency with other paragraphs in the standard
and/or with the concepts and terminology used in
other standards. In addition, the amendments clarify
that the Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 does
not necessarily illustrate all the requirements in
the referenced paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor does it
create additional requirements. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.

e HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments
clarify that when a lessee has determined that a lease
liability has been extinguished in accordance with
HKFRS 9, the lessee is required to apply paragraph
3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise any resulting gain
or loss in profit or loss. In addition, the amendments
have updated certain wording in paragraph 5.1.3
of HKFRS 9 and Appendix A of HKFRS 9 to
remove potential confusion. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI T

31 December 2024

2024%12A31H

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (Continued)

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The
amendments clarify that the relationship described
in paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just one example
of various relationships that might exist between the
investor and other parties acting as de facto agents
of the investor, which removes the inconsistency
with the requirement in paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.

HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments
replace the term “cost method” with “at cost” in
paragraph 37 of HKAS 7 following the prior deletion
of the definition of “cost method"”. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI M T

31 December 2024
2024F12H31H

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it has significant influence. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and
operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control
or joint control over those policies.

The Group's investment in an associate is stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group's
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses. The Group’s share of the post-
acquisition results and other comprehensive income of
associates is included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and consolidated other comprehensive income,
respectively. In addition, when there has been a change
recognised directly in the equity of the associate, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and its associate are eliminated to the extent of
the Group's investment in the associate, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the
assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of
the associate is included as part of the Group's investment in
an associate.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other case,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS IR R IEE
31 December 2024

2024%12A31H

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. EESTHERE)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is the sum
of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. For each
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and
a substantive process that together significantly contribute
to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the
acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI M T

31 December 2024
2024F12H31H

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or a liability is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised
in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified
as equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than
the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is,
after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss
is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is
not reversed in a subsequent period.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its financial asset at fair value through
profit or loss at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date.
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset or
liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal
or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1- based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2—- based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly
or indirectly

Level 3— based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets and financial assets),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’'s or cash-
generating unit's value in use and its fair value less costs of
disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises
in those expense categories consistent with the function of
the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary
of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vi)a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of
the entity); and

(vii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2024%12A31H

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. EESHEE)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations
where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure
for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:
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Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset
is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment
when completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset with an
indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine whether the
indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If
not, the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite
to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Purchased software licences and trademark are stated at
cost less any impairment losses and are amortised on the
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 10
years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases. The
Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the
underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. Where applicable,
the cost of a right-of-use asset also includes an estimate
of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset
or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which
it is located. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and
the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings
Plant and machinery

2 to 30 years
10 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments to
be made over the lease term. The lease payments include
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees.
The lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by
the Group and payments of penalties for termination of a
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as
an expense in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change
in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of building, and
machinery and equipment (that is those leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. EESHEE)

Investments and other financial assets

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in
the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group
has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI") on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

The Group's business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which
are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade
date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on the equity investments are also recognised as
other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right
of payment has been established.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to

repay.
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (“ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include
cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is
required for credit losses expected over the remaining life
of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date
with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition and considers reasonable
and supportable information that is available without undue
cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there has been a
significant increase in credit risk when contractual payments
are more than 90 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables and contract assets which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
not increased significantly since initial recognition
and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises
a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that
is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and lease receivables, the Group chooses as
its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs with policies as described above.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. EESHEE)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables,
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals,
interest-bearing bank borrowings and lease liabilities.

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis
and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods,
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-
term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally
within three months that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value and held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting
profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit
or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 3. EESTHERE)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the
deferred taxes assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either
the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for
which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is
credited to a deferred income account and is released to the
statement of profit or loss over the expected useful life of
the relevant asset by equal annual instalments or deducted
from the carrying amount of the asset and released to the
statement of profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring
the goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year
or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a) Sale of printing products

Revenue from the sale of printing products is recognised
at the point in time when control of the asset is
transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the
printing products.

Some contracts for the sale of printing products provide
customers with rights of return and volume rebates,
giving rise to variable consideration.

(i)

Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right
to return the goods within a specified period, the
Group estimates the goods that will not be returned
using the expected value method to predict the
amount of variable consideration to which the Group
will be entitled. The requirements in HKFRS 15 on
constraining estimates of variable consideration are
applied in order to determine the amount of variable
consideration that can be included in the transaction
price. For goods that are expected to be returned,
instead of revenue, a refund liability is recognised.
A right-of-return asset (and the corresponding
adjustment to cost of sales) is also recognised for the
right to recover products from a customer.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a) Sale of printing products (Continued)
(i) Volume rebates

Retrospective volume rebates may be provided to
certain customers once the quantity of products
purchased during the period exceeds a threshold
specified in the contract. Rebates are offset against
amounts payable by the customer. To estimate
the variable consideration for the expected future
rebates, the most likely amount method is used
for contracts with a single-volume threshold. The
selected method that best predicts the amount
of variable consideration is primarily driven by the
number of volume thresholds contained in the
contract. The requirements on constraining estimates
of variable consideration are applied and a refund
liability for the expected future rebates is recognised.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Freight and transportation income is recognised when the
services have been provided to customers.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods. Contract
liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the
related goods to the customer).

Right-of-return assets

A right-of-return asset is recognised for the right to recover
the goods expected to be returned by customers. The asset
is measured at the former carrying amount of the goods to be
returned, less any expected costs to recover the goods and
any potential decreases in the value of the returned goods.
The Group updates the measurement of the asset for any
revisions to the expected level of returns and any additional
decreases in the value of the returned goods.

Refund liabilities

A refund liability is recognised for the obligation to refund
some or all of the consideration received (or receivable)
from a customer and is measured at the amount the Group
ultimately expects it will have to return to the customer.
The Group updates its estimates of refund liabilities (and the
corresponding change in the transaction price) at the end of
each reporting period.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services in exchange for equity instruments (“Equity-Settled
Transactions”).

The cost of Equity-Settled Transactions with employees is
measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which
they are granted. The fair value is determined by an external
valuer using a binomial model, further details of which are
given in note 29 to the financial statements.

The cost of Equity-Settled Transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative
expense recognised for Equity-Settled Transactions at
the end of each reporting period until the vesting date
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired
and the Group's best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to
the statement of profit or loss for a period represents the
movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’'s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
Market performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead
to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are also
service and/or performance conditions.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition
is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or
is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the
date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the
date that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are
treated as if they were a modification of the original award,
as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Employee benefits

The Group operates defined contribution retirement benefit
schemes in Hong Kong and overseas for those employees
who are eligible and have elected to participate in the
schemes. Contributions are made based on a percentage of
the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the schemes. The assets of the schemes are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group’'s employer contributions vest fully with
the employees when contributed into the schemes, except
for the Group’s employer voluntary contributions, which
are refunded to the Group when the employee leaves
employment prior to the contributions vesting fully, in
accordance with the rules of the scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate
in Mainland China and Vietnam are required to participate in
a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

EREHBEAE)

Dividends 2

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are XHHJ&%‘Eﬁx%ﬁ/\t?ﬁﬂxﬁ?ﬁt/&ﬂﬂi@w
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed ABE - EZZAERENTERERM T+
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial WEE o

statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the memorandum and bye-laws of the relevant
companies grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and
declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
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cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange PR 5 AMHERRE - AT ETED
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary SNEREERIE B iREtE AT EE HAYE R

items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple
payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines the
transaction date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

The functional currencies of overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the
end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rate prevailing at the end of the reporting period
and their statements of profit or loss are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates that approximate to those
prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the differences
are attributable to non-controlling interests. On disposal of
a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated
at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of
overseas subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average
exchange rate for the year.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND 4. Z A= R4st

ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in
the future.

Judgement

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgement, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial
statements:

Certain contracts for the sale of printing products include
a right of return that give rises to variable consideration. In
estimating the variable consideration, the Group is required
to use either the expected value method or the most likely
amount method based on which method better predicts the
amount of consideration to which it will be entitled.

The Group determined that the expected value method is
the appropriate method to use in estimating the variable
consideration for the sale of industrial products with rights
of return, given the large number of customer contracts that
have similar characteristics.

In estimating the variable consideration for the sale
of industrial products with volume rebates, the Group
determined that using the most likely amount method is
appropriate. The selected method that better predicts the
amount of variable consideration related to volume rebates
is primarily driven by the number of volume thresholds
contained in the contract. The most likely amount method is
used for those contracts with a single volume threshold.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

ESTIMATES (Continued)

Before including any amount of variable consideration in
the transaction price, the Group considers whether the
amount of variable consideration is constrained. The Group
determined that the estimates of variable consideration are
not constrained based on its historical experience, business
forecast and the current economic conditions. In addition,
the uncertainty on the variable consideration will be resolved
within a short time frame.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments that have similar
loss patterns (i.e., by geography).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. For instance, if forecast
economic conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead
to an increased number of defaults in the printing product
sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of
a customer’s actual default in the future. The information
about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed
in note 21 to the financial statements.

Management reviews the condition of inventories of the
Group and makes provision against obsolete and slow-
moving inventory items which are identified as no longer
suitable for sale or use. Management estimates the net
realisable value for such inventories based primarily on the
latest invoice prices and current market conditions. The
Group carries out an inventory review at the end of each
reporting period and assesses whether any provision made
against obsolete and slow-moving items. Management
reassesses the estimation at the end of each reporting
period.

The identification of obsolete and slow-moving inventory
items requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where
the expectation is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact on the carrying values of inventories
and the write-down of inventories recognised in the periods
in which such estimates have been changed. The carrying
amount of inventories as at 31 December 2024 was
HK$83,227,000 (2023: HK$70,163,000).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets) at
the end of each reporting period. Indefinite life intangible
assets are tested for impairment annually and at other times
when such an indicator exists. Other non-financial assets
are tested for impairment when there are indicators that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-
generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the
higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in
use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal
is based on available data from binding sales transactions in
an arm'’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows
from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group has only one MEEENmM:S  ANEBES —FETE2H
reportable operating segment, which is the manufacture and g BIAEENEEHRER °

sale of printing products.

Geographical information ih i3 & R}

(a) Revenue from external customers

(a) SPEEE UYL as

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHxT FHET

Mainland China A [ A D, 177,701 128,401
Hong Kong BE 64,582 54,721
Bangladesh Eay)[iEaa 99,024 50,696
India EE 34,072 17,992
Vietnam g 47,484 30,010
Other countries/regions HER & 128,186 90,490
Total revenue B EE 551,049 372,310

The revenue information above is based on the locations

of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

RSB TIREBEEFAELE

5l

(b) FRBEE

2024 2023

20244 2023%F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FET

Mainland China AR A D, 101,094 72,813
Bangladesh Eay)[EaYs 47,420 52,248
Vietnam g 5,258 8,349
Hong Kong B 18,821 20,707
Other countries/regions HtER,ME 30,137 24,697
Total non-current assets IEREEELE 202,730 178,814

The non-current asset information above is based FHIFERBEEER NRIEEEME
on the locations of the assets and excludes financial HWRE  WAEEEE TEMELER
instruments and deferred tax assets. HEE -
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold,
after allowances for returns, trade discounts and rebates.

Was ~ AR WS

Wests B HBRRE -

BHITMEENEE

BREHLEERMERFE -

An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows: REBHWZOWTWOT :
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Revenue from contracts with customers ZEF &S
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) Wezs 25 B EH#
Types of goods or services EmmREER
Sale of printing products SHEERIE R 551,049 372,310
Geographical markets 5 T 35
Mainland China AR A 3B 177,701 128,401
Hong Kong BE 64,582 54,721
Bangladesh Nz 99,024 50,696
India EE 34,072 17,992
Vietnam [E] 47,484 30,010
Other countries/regions HAib R, 128,186 90,490
Total revenue from contracts with BEAHBEIE
customers 551,049 372,310
Timing of revenue recognition TR R RS FS
Goods transferred at a point in time RE -RHEHEEN
B 551,049 372,310
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue

recognised that were included in the contract liabilities at
the beginning of the year:

6.

Wz - HAWA R WS (&)

BEERHNWE(E)

TRINTRENFARNEBENCHE
AU SRR

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THE T FET
Sale of printing products 5 BN mll 22 11,616 9,564
(i) Performance obligations (i) BAIE A
Sale of printing products & EJmll 2 ia

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of
the printing products and payment is generally due within
30 to 90 days from delivery, except for new customers,
where payment in advance is normally required. Some
contracts provide customers with a right of return which
gives rise to variable consideration subject to constraint.

As the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or
partially satisfied) as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are
part of contracts that have an original expected duration
of one year or less, the transaction price allocated to such
is not disclosed, as permitted by the practical expedient
in HKFRS 15.

BHEERZXNERIEMEBZR - T
MR —BRR XA EEFB0E0RAE
H - EMEP —REFEEZBENK - @
MERIRAEFPARER  EAAR
R ATERE -

20244 2 2023F 12 A31H& T
RERKHDEXNBOETRRE
TEHFHRAE—FAANEH 2 —3
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Continued) 6. Uz« HWARWKER(E)
Other income and gains include the following: HEMU A RSB TNEHE
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET
Other income and gains Hibug AR WS

Freight and transportation income BENMEH WA 391 1,212
Interest income FEW A 442 652
Sale of scrap materials SHEREZEM R 1,504 1,567
Government grants® T B * 623 592

Fair value gain on a financial asset at BATEFAEBRENOSE
fair value through profit or loss BENFEWKRS 127 137
Others Hip 2,611 1,901
Total @t 5,698 6,061

*  The government grants have been received from the local government. It
mainly represented compensation of the unemployment insurance paid to
the local government and the acquisition of the Group’s new machines,
whose compensation are transferred from deferred income to profit or
loss over the useful lives of the relevant assets for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, there
were no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attaching to the
government grants that had been recognised by the Group.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI

31 December 2024
2024128318

7. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX 7. BREAIER,(EE)

The Group's profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after
charging/(crediting):

AEBENRBAERN(EE) &N
B/ GEA) OIS IRRE -

2024 2023
20244 20234
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B &E FET FHET
Cost of sales* 4B AR 280,430 209,757
Depreciation of property, plantand ¥ - B LR ETE
equipment 14 20,280 17,693
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (FREEEITE 15 13,452 12,832
Amortisation of other intangible HEth P EEE
assets 17 89 752
Short-term lease expenses MHMERY 15 930 969
Employee benefit expense EERMAXZ(TREE
(excluding directors’ remuneration  EBEFHM (KI7F9)) -
(note 9)):
Wages and salaries TERFE 152,700 138,986
Pension scheme contributions BRIRE IR
(defined contribution scheme)* * (RERTETE)** 18,269 14,669
Total KRGt 170,969 153,655
Auditor’'s remuneration 12 Eh Bih 27 BM 2,050 2,160
Foreign exchange differences, net* [} &= & %58 * 629 (4,109)
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) % 5 fEWRIERE,
of trade receivables, net* CRUER R ) FrE* 21 1,981 (176)
Impairment of goodwill*** PR E*** 16 - 361
Impairment of investment in R — B E A R E
an associate*** B *** 19 - 3,089
Impairment of other intangible HtmpEERE
assets*** 17 - 4,615
(Gain)/loss on disposal of items of HEME BEL
property, plant and equipment, HEEER (),
net” E51E 5 R (177) 217
*  These items are included in “Other operating income/(expenses), net” ¥ ZEIEHNEE20244F %2023F12 4318 1F
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the years FENGABEED [HMEB8 WA/ (FX)F
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. 28 |5I5R o
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI

31 December 2024
2024F12H31H

7. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX (Continued) 7.

** There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the
employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.

*** These items are included in “Impairment of non-financial assets” on the
face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the years ended 31
December 2024 and 2023.

L Cost of inventories sold includes HK$74,240,000 (2023: HK$65,322,000)
of employee benefit expense, and depreciation of property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets which are also included in the
respective total amounts disclosed above for each of these types of
expenses. Included in cost of sales was also the provision for inventories
of HK$3,248,000 (2023: reversal of provision of HK$1,135,000) for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

BRBLADSR, (1) (&)

** o B AR EVE AR E AR AR AR A HK
IR BRI

*xx ZEIHE NEE2024F K% 2023F12A31HILF
ErGeBRRT [ FeREEREINTR -

+ BEFEKAEIET4,240,0007% 7T (2023 F -

65,322,000 L) MEEBRAFAIRYME - BE
REEAREREEENE (Nt A EXGZE
FHEAXRENERERE) - 8122024512831
HIEFE - 755 1#3,248,0005% 7T (20234 :
2 B 81,135,000 7)) INE AT ASHER A ©

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MEMRAK
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BERADTAT -

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Interest on bank loans and overdrafts RITERRBELFE 621 1,346
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 1,743 1,818
Total @t 2,364 3,164

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S REMUNERATION 9. EENFETHAEMNE

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b),
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2

REEMHRR - FB R EGHI%383(1)
(a) ~ (b) () R(fMERIA R AR (KB E = F
BERROIFE2HBENLAFEEER

of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits FETHRAEBMESHT ¢
of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FHET
Fees we 540 540
Other emoluments: Hup 4 :
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EMKREWER 4,257 3,470
Performance related bonuses FRIRMERETEA 948 1,316
Pension scheme contributions BRIRE TR 45 54
Subtotal INET 5,250 4,840
Total fees and other emoluments we REAMN S 25 5,790 5,380
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BA RS SRR BT

31 December 2024
2024128318

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION

(Continued)

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors

(a) BUFHTES
FAXN TR FRATESTNBREN

9. EERFETHRAEME (&)

during the year were as follows: T~
2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Ms. Luk Mei Yan PEERZ L 180 180
Mr. Lee Tak Cheong Gy Pt 180 180
Mr. Lam Chor Ki, Dick M A 180 180
Total FEE 540 540

There were no other emoluments payable to independent
non-executive directors during the year (2023: Nil).

(b) Executive directors

& (20234 : &) -

(b) BIITESE

FRALEENTELIFRATESTHE

Salaries,
allowances Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme
Fees in kind bonuses contributions Total
Fe 2R E30) Bike
He ENEF LR SHEIf H)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T
Year ended 31 December 2024  #Z2024F12A31BLEE
Mr. Barry Chan iRt - 1,684 257 9 1,950
Ms. Candy Law BYBLL - 1,386 496 18 1,900
Mr. James Chan BiEEEE - 1,187 195 18 1,400
Total et - 4,257 948 45 5,250
Year ended 31 December 2023  #Z2023512A318 L EE
Mr. Barry Chan PREZAR £ 4 - 1,570 402 18 1,990
Ms. Candy Law BYBETT - 1,312 570 18 1,900
Mr. James Chan BREELE - 588 344 18 950
Total @t - 3,470 1,316 54 4,840

HERRAMRDF © 2024 FERE
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BRI

31 December 2024
2024F12H31H

9.

10.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S REMUNERATION
(Continued)

(b) Executive directors (Continued)

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year
(2023: Nil).

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included
one director (2023: two directors) of the Company, details of
whose remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of
the remuneration for the year of the remaining four (2023:
three) highest paid employees who are not directors of the
Company are as follows:

10.

EERTETHRAEME(E)

(b) BITEE(E)

FR- BEEHMETULHREXRE
MEEAHM (20234 « &) -

TERSHEES

FRN AERaTEEEBEARA—H
(2023F : MAB)ES » EFHMFBHR
ESCHIFEQ o AR AEH TIUE (20234 -
R EEESFEENEAFENH B
HBET

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind He o EEIREWIEF 10,158 7,269
Pension scheme contributions RIKSEHEMER 344 233
Total @t 10,502 7,502
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31 December 2024
2024128318

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (Continued)

11.

The number of the non-director, highest paid employees
whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as
follows:

10. A BEHEE(F)

BRATHFEMERNIEEEZRSFHEE A
HMT

2023
20234
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z 21,000,000 7T -

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 T2 1,500,000
BIT _

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,00187T22,000,000
BT 1

HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T E2,500,000
BT 1

HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001/ 723,000,000
BT _

HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 7T 23,500,000
BT 1
Total @Et 3

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to any of the non-director, highest paid employees as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office (2023: Nil).

INCOME TAX

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman lIslands
and the BVI, the Group is not subject to any income tax in
the Cayman Islands and the BVI. Hong Kong profits tax has
been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the
estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during
the year, except for one subsidiary of the Group which is
a qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The first HK$2,000,000 (2023: HK$2,000,000) of
assessable profits of this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25%
(2023: 8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits are
taxed at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%). Taxes on profits assessable
elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing
in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

11.

FA - AEERBEREAFEERSFHE
B - ERIARKESINARD
EREDKBRBA A (5 (20234 « &) -

FriS#t

REFRSHERABELHERA MR
Bl REBBAENRFHSHE KR ER L
EHMMEMAEET - £ FEFEHE
IR B BEENGFTERTEFIZ16.5%
(20234 : 16.5% ) B R FHE A © R
EE—EHEBARKRI  ZHBEBRT A
BEFGEHMAFHNNERE - ZWBEQF
B 2,000,000 7T (20234 : 2,000,000
BT B FERR B E F1128.25% (2023 F -
8.25% ) MU BB - A TR & F
BIJ3%16.5% (20234 : 16.5% ) B9 &l R 44
i o FEEAb b J5 BhFE SR B E RIS R B TR
B A ES SR ERNER
FREETE o
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BRI

31 December 2024
2024F12H31H

11. INCOME TAX (Continued)

1. FRBHL (&)

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current — Hong Kong BIER— &8

Charge for the year FNMAX 4,828 1,214
Overprovision in prior years BAFERERE - (31)

Current — Elsewhere BVEA — E fih it [&=
Charge for the year FNMAZ 7,721 4,568
Deferred (note 27) PEIE (B 5E27) 339 275
Total tax charge for the year FABIBEHR T 858 12,888 6,026

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit/(loss)
before tax at the statutory rate to the tax charge at the

BEBEEEREERARBBRATEMN, (8
18) M BA R T B RIRE R R IR

effective tax rate is as follows: TEERWAT
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHET
Profit/(loss) before tax BRBIATE T (E51R) 74,747 (19,650)
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% BEAEMRER16.5%TEH
e 12,333 (3,242)
Lower tax rate enacted by local authority g BB E (R R (8,210) (1,861)
Effect of different tax rates for different TREBVEAER TR E K
jurisdictions a8 4,594 1,371
Adjustments in respect of current tax of BRI RN E R 18
previous periods FTE L My FH 2 = (31)
Profits and losses attributable to an — BB E A A G 805
associate M8 (18) 87
Income not subject to tax BAFHBA (999) (274)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR 5,395 5118
Tax losses utilised from previous periods BESHEMNEERRIE
B (3,507) (472)
Tax losses not recognised RIERH T IEREE 2,214 4,341
Others HAth 1,086 989
Tax charge at the Group's effective tax rate L AEEEEHE17.2%
of 17.2% (2023: -30.7 %) (20234 : -30.7%)
STERHIERX 12,888 6,026
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2024128318

12.

13.

DIVIDENDS 12. KE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Proposed final dividend — HK0.75 cents FEERHIRE —B&
(2023: Nil) per ordinary share T A%0. 75810
(2023%F : &) 15,000 -

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share
amounts is based on the profit for the year attributable
to owners of the Company of HK$61,859,000 (2023: loss
for the year attributable to owners of the Company of
HK$25,676,000) and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 1,995,453,825 (2023: 2,000,000,000)
outstanding during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings/
(loss) per share amounts presented for the years ended
31 December 2024 and 2023 in respect of a dilution as
the impact of the share options outstanding had an anti-
dilutive effect on the basic earnings/(loss) per share amounts
presented.

13.

AEBEZRN R RBBREBFART
BREREREFAKG L AR AE

o

ARAER
®,/ (&18)

BaFEARLGERA

BEREAERN(BE)SBEHENRARQ
RIYEE AFE(MRFARNEFI61,859,000/% T
(2023F : AAR A ABEFANERE
25,676,000 7T ) LA K G R 5 R 1T {F &
AL INAE 19 £01,995,453,8250% (2023
£ 1 2,000,000,0000% )5+ & o

BREARITENERESE 2O ERE
RERMN(BR)BEEREERE -
M B E M 8 A = 2024 F %2023
F12RA3MBIUEFEMEINERERE
(BB &BIELARE -
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2024F12H31H

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - BERXME

126

Leasehold Plant and Furniture Motor
Buildings improvements machinery  and fixtures vehicles Total
BEY  HENEEE  BERER  FAREE AE &5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAR TAR TAR TAn TAn ThARL
31 December 2024 20245128318
At 1 January 2024: P04E1 /18
Cost AR 39,766 13,642 242,504 9,526 2,321 307,759
Accumulated depreciation Z:1TE (1,166) (5,027) (150,279) (8,299) (1,831) (166,602)
Net carrying amount BEFE 38,600 8,615 92,225 1,221 490 141,157
At 1 January 2024, net of accumulated 202451818
depreciation NhZHNE 38,600 8,615 92,25 1,221 490 141,157
Additions NE - 2,4NM 17,474 m 149 21,065
Disposal LE = - (593) = (35) (628)
Depreciation provided during FRTERE
the year (note 7) (Bt7) (1,192) (1,118) (17,089) (781) (100) (20,280)
Exchange realignment ERAE (3,322) (228) (6,445) (67) (12) (10,074)
At 31 December 2024, net of #2024%12R318
accumulated depreciation K Ziting 34,086 9,740 85,572 1,350 492 131,240
At 31 December 2024: W2024%128318 :
Cost A 36,289 16,035 241,207 10,456 2,372 306,359
Accumulated depreciation ZiITE (2,203) (6,295) (155,635) (9,106) (1,880) (175,19)
Net carrying amount FEFE 34,086 9,740 85,572 1,350 492 131,240
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31 December 2024
2024128318

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 14. 9% - BERRZE(E)
Leasehold Plant and Funiture Motor  Construction
Buildings improvements  machinery  and fixtures vehicles in progress Total
BEY REMEEE BEREE  GAREE Rt EEIE o

HK$000  HKS'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK§'000
TR TAT TAT TARL TET TER TER

31 December 2023 2023F12A31H

At 1 January 2023: R2023F1 718
Cost KA - 20,065 231,440 9,243 1,843 29,956 292,547
Accumulated depreciation EHE - 9,874) (142,764) (7,621) (1,581) - 161,840)
Net carrying amount REFE - 10,191 88,676 1,622 262 29,956 130,707

At 1 January 2023, net of R2023F1 418

accumulated depreciation Nk ZHnE - 10,191 88,676 1622 262 29,956 130,707
Additions NE 11,686 3,124 21,540 589 494 - 37,433
Disposal E - 3,296) 607) 7 - = (3.910)
Depreciation provided during A7 ERE

the year (note 7) (HzE7) (1,189) (1,056) (14,391) (794) (263) = (17,693)
Transfers &H 28,902 - - - - (28,902) -
Exchange realignment ERAE (799) (339) (3,002) (183) (3) (1,054 (5,380}
At 31 December 2023, netof  12023F 128318 -

accumulated depreciation NBE:HE 38,600 8,624 92,216 1,227 490 - 141,157
At 31 December 2023: 20235128318 :

Cost R 39,766 13,642 242,504 9,526 2,321 - 307,759

Accumulated depreciation ZithE (1,166) 5,027) (150,279) (8,299) (1,831) - (166,602)

Net carrying amount EEIE 38,600 8615 92,225 1207 490 . 141,157
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

15.

At 31 December 2024, certain of the Group’'s plant
and machinery with a net book value of approximately
HK$6,822,000 (2023: HK$7,675,000) were pledged to secure
certain of the bank loans of the Group as detailed in note 26.

LEASES
The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of buildings,
and plant and machinery used in its operations. Leases of
plant and machinery generally have lease terms of ten years,
while buildings generally have lease terms between two to
thirty years. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning

14. 9% - BENRE(E)

15.

M2024F12A31 8 NEBKREFED
/6,822,000 7T (20234 : 7,675,000
BIL)E THE RESSDER - LUES
By AEBZzETFRTER(GFBERWE
26) ©

HE
REBEREEA

AEBRZHZEMARBE R #EEE
RIAHESH  UHEZEMR - BE K&
HEnHEE-REMSTF  MEFTHHE
E-REAMA—E=1F - —&KM5 &
SEAAIRAKEASNA T8 E LS HHE

and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets

(a) 121

AEEFANERREENKREENE

and the movements during the year are as follows: BT :
Plant and
Buildings machinery Total
BF KRERKSS HE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
As at 1 January 2023 R2023%1 818 27,756 8,428 36,184
Additions NG 7,940 - 7,940
Lease modification HEEET 736 - 736
Depreciation charge (note 7) &R X (Mi57) (10,965) (1,867) (12,832)
Exchange realignment P& 5 AR (752) (238) (990)

As at 31 December 2023 and 42023412 A31H
1 January 2024 202491 A1H 24,715 6,323 31,038
Additions NE 49,991 - 49,991
Depreciation charge (note 7) &M (FisE7) (11,753) (1,699) (13,452)
Termination 29l (2,003) - (2,003)
Exchange realignment FEE o, 37 28 (1,463) (75) (1,538)
As at 31 December 2024 R2024F12H31H 59,487 4,549 64,036
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15. LEASES (Continued) 15. HE (&)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the
movements during the year are as follows:

REBEREEAE)

IO 4E £2 (==
HEERIE

HERBEMNREERFRZBMT

2024 2023

20245 2023%F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Carrying amount at 1 January M ATEMEREE 25,065 30,188

New leases e 49,991 6,991
Accretion of interest recognised FAMERRFSIE M

during the year 1,743 1,818

Lease modification HEBE = 736

Payments 3R (14,182) (13,844)

Termination el (2,005) =

Exchange realignment b H AR 814 (824)

Carrying amount at 31 December W12 A31 B EREE 61,426 25,065

Analysed into: aRiv=
Current portion mENER D 9,580 10,401
Non-current portion FEmENE S 51,846 14,664

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in
note 37 to the financial statements.

Certain of the Group's lease liabilities were guaranteed
by unlimited corporate guarantees given by the Company
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

HEaSBEMNI SO MR IEHRE W T
371 -

20244 202312 A31H » K&

BETHEAGBIHAARR M4 TH
BERARERAER
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15. LEASES (Continued) 15. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) REBERABEAE)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to ) REZTBEREEEFEN S BN
leases are as follows: T
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBxT FHET
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 1,743 1,818
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FREEENERY
assets 13,452 12,832
Expense relating to short-term leases  EASGEAFHE ARERMAX
(included in administrative expenses) Gt AfTERY) 930 969
Gain on early termination of a lease REKR RSN K (2) =
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIBRERRASE 16,123 15,619
(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note (d) HEMRS AL EBERERIT B RE
31(c) to the financial statements. MIEE31(c) ©
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16. GOODWILL 16. 2
Total
HEH
HK$°000
F#ExT
At 1 January 2023: 7R2023F1H18 ¢
Cost X AN 1,895
Accumulated impairment RFHRIE (1,534)
Net carrying amount R FE 361
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of 720231 A1 BRI (F0BR RETRIE)
accumulated impairment 361
Impairment during the year FRREE (361)
Cost and net carrying amount at M2023%F12 A31 BRI A REREFE
31 December 2023 =
At 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 2023512 H318 ~ 2024F1 A1 R
and 31 December 2024: 2024F12A318 :
Cost AN 1,895
Accumulated impairment R RE (1,895)
Net carrying amount REFE =
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16. GOODWILL (Continued)

Impairment testing of goodwiill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the Truecount cash-generating unit (the
“Truecount CGU") and to the Print100 cash-generating
unit (the “Print100 CGU"). The carrying amount of goodwill
allocated to each of the cash-generating units is as follows:

16. BE (%)
EEMRE N

BXEBAaHESHNEE»EZR
TruecountiR & E 4 B ([ Truecount
SELEEMN])RE00RSEABEM([E]
100 e EASBMN]) - EREZMER
EEBMHEENERDESYNT -

Truecount Print100
CGU CGU Total
Truecount EN100
REEESEN BREEEEN #Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET FHET
Carrying amount: BRTHEE
At 1 January 2023 7R2023F1A1H - 361 361
Impairment provided during the — 4E PR (B £ 8
year - (361) (361)

A 31 December 2023,
1 January 2024 and
31 December 2024

M2023F12A318
20241 A1B K
2024F12A31H

Truecount CGU

The goodwill allocated to the Truecount CGU had been fully

impaired in the year ended 31 December 2022.
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16. GOODWILL (Continued) 16. BE(E)

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the recoverable amount of the
Print100 CGU was determined based on a value in use
calculation using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior
management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections was 15.7% for the year ended 31 December
2023. The long-term growth rate used to extrapolate the cash
flows of the cash-generating unit beyond the five-year period
was 2.5% for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Key assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of
the cash-generating units for the year ended 31 December
2023. The following describes each key assumption on
which management has based its cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted revenue and gross margins — The basis used to
determine the value assigned to the budgeted revenue and
gross margins is the average revenue and gross margins
achieved in the year immediately before the budget year,
increased for expected efficiency improvements, and
expected market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market
development and discount rates are consistent with external
information sources.

Based on management’s estimates, an impairment loss of
HK$361,000 for the Print100 CGU was recognised to write
down the carrying amount of goodwill to its recoverable
amount as at 31 December 2023.

AEARERH(F)

MN2023%E12A310 » ENM100IR S ELEE
AR ESEREREENEHNE
T ZAEFAERARESREERENR
HENAFHYBEE®ETHNESRETE
Al o B ZE2023F12A31HIEFE ' RE
METRANAMEAMNIIREAE15.7% - 82
2023F12A31HILFE - AREERF
B EReELAEUMNESRENREE
RRAE25% °

HE2023F12A31HILFEE - FMAFER
BEAEAFANERSELENBEER
FERRKR - U THMEEEHEITEEAR
BARB2ENREREFEAMKENS
FERK:

FREWARENFE—FIRANEE DR
BEEARENREBENEESEERE
FEA—FNEINFIHRARENE -
FEETRERREFTTRENRERTISER -

BB E - FRMIRE BB AIRRE -

DEEMSERNTIEBMRBALEEREDN
BEEINFEHNBE—K -

RIBBEEEMNET - ER2023F12A31
H L EN1003R € & 4 B (7 #72361,0007%8
TRBEEER  UEEENEEENRE
HAkE &5 -
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BRI

31 December 2024
2024F12H31H

17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

17. BB EE

Software

licences

and

trademark

R4 ITREE

HK$'000

31 December 2024 2024F12831H FET
Cost at 1 January 2024, net of M20241 A1 BRI - H1kg

accumulated amortisation 2t 675
Amortisation provided during the year FNE B (H5E7)

(note 7) (89)
Exchange realignment PE 5% 58 (17)
At 31 December 2024 7202412 A31H 569
At 31 December 2024: 72024128318 :

Cost AR 6,391

Accumulated amortisation and RETE#ERORE

impairment (5,822)

Net carrying amount REFE 569
31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of 72023F1 A1 BHIRA - {1k

accumulated amortisation R 6,055
Amortisation provided during the year F B (P EE7)

(note 7) (752)
Impairment during the year FNRE (4,615)
Exchange realignment bE H SR (13)
At 31 December 2023 72023F12A31H 675
At 31 December 2023: #2023F12A31H -

Cost BN 6,417

Accumulated amortisation and Rt RE

impairment (5,742)

Net carrying amount BREFE 675
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BRI

31 December 2024
2024128318

17.

18.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

17. EtBREE(E)

The other intangible assets represent software licences and EEREEERKREABLE =
trademark acquired from independent third parties, which A REE . HERAIFERFEHA10
have finite useful lives of 10 years and are amortised on a F o WAEREER -
straight-line basis.
FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR  18. i AP ET AIBENEREE
LOSS
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Key management insurance contract FEEBEAEBRBEL 6,067 5,940
Analysed for reporting purpose as: BREBNOWA
Non-current assets EREBEE 6,067 5,940

The key management insurance contract was mandatorily
classified as a financial asset at fair value through profit or
loss as its contractual cash flows are not solely payments of
principal and interest.

Note:

As at 31 December 2024, the key management insurance contract
represented life insurance plans with investment elements relating to one
member of key management personnel of the Group. The total sum insured is
US$2,000,000 (2023: US$2,000,000) (approximately HK$15,500,000) with an
annual minimum guaranteed return of 2%.

As at 31 December 2024, if the Group withdrew from the insurance contract,
the account value, net of surrender charges of US$126,000 (approximately
HK$974,000) (2023: US$129,000 (approximately HK$1,009,000)), would be
refunded to the Group. The amount of surrender charges decreased over time
and was no longer required from the 19th year of contract conclusion onwards.

TEEBEABRBRENNENESREL
HERINAERAE  MEWKAH DI
REATFEFAERNSREE -

BT -

MR2024F12A31H  T2EBABRBENEA
SRBE ERREEABASEE-FEEEEA
BMIRERK S - #B1R% £A2,000,000% 7T (20234 -
2,000,0003 7T ) (#915,500,00047T) © FE&ER
?é@iﬁ%Z% ©

MN2024F12A318 - WAKBERERREL - IR
FEENBRERIREF126,000%7T(47974,000/8 1)
(20234 : 129,000 7T(#71,009,000%7T) ) ) #§ iR 2
FALE - RREASEERBER - RENKRIER
FI9F BB -
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2024F12H31H

19. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

19. R—EHEEQATNERE

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TET

Share of net assets BILEEFE 2,918 2,810
Goodwill on acquisition W ELARN TR 5,960 5,960
Subtotal /NET 8,878 8,770
Impairment VERED (3,089) (3,089)
Total BET 5,789 5,681

Based on management’s estimate, no impairment loss
(2023: impairment loss of HK$3,089,000) was recognised for
the investment in an associate in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss based on the recoverable amount as at the
end of the reporting periods.

As at 31 December 2023, the recoverable amount of the
investment in an associate was determined based on a
value in use calculation using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by
senior management. The discount rate applied to the cash
flow projections was 19.4% and the long-term growth rate
used to extrapolate the cash flows of the cash-generating
unit beyond the five-year period was 2.5%.

Particulars of the Group’s associate are as follows:

BRIEEEEMGR - BIBEHRE RO AT
&% MEEABRRARPREE QF 8
& W EERRERE 8 (2023F  BER
183,089,000/ 7T) °

R2023%12A31H » REEE R RINIRE
ma e eEReREREEIEZ RER
FHZHMBEERBREREEARER
BEFEMET - #HABRSREMHANEL
RWRAE19.4% @ U RFAREZ R F UM
MNRSELABEUNReRENRPERER
52.5% °

REBHEBEQRFENOT

Percentage of

B
Place of
Particulars  registration

of issued  and Ownership Voting Profit Principal
shares held  business interest power sharing activities

Firfs

BRI
Name Ex RiHE  HEfkEXN i’ REE FMERR TEEH
Primway S.AR.L Primway S.A.R.L Provision of
customer
EUR2,080  France 25 25 25 services
20808t iE RERFRE
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20. INVENTORIES 20. 78
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TFET
Raw materials B 36,368 24,871
Work in progress TE& S 19,377 23,386
Finished goods BURK M 27,482 21,906
Total @t 83,227 70,163
21. TRADE RECEIVABLES 1. E 5 EWRIE
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TFET
Trade receivables g Z W EIE 60,134 45,566
Impairment NERIE! (2,572) (654)
Net carrying amount BRMEFEE 57,562 44,912

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance
is normally required. The credit period is generally within
30 to 90 days from the date of monthly statements. Each
customer has a maximum credit limit. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over
its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-
interest-bearing.

AEEXZUEESAEREFIIVES
fFR - EHEP —RBEREMNK - EE
Hl—MR R ARKERRE30E0XRA -
BREFARREERE - AMEHRES
REREBERERN - AREBURINEES
RN RS A M ER R EMEE
IBRIENE - BHRUGIATE °
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BRI

31 December 2024
2024F12H31H

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of

loss allowance, is as follows:

21

CEZRWRIA(E)

RBEEHR REZZAHNEZRK
IR (MR B REHE) R

2024 2023
2024 20234

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET TET

Within 1 month —@ARA 32,204 24,438
1 to 2 months —Z=mW{EA 14,381 12,751
2 to 3 months M2 =18 A 6,629 3,911
Over 3 months HBiE=1EH 4,348 3,812
Total FEE 57,562 44,912

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of

trade receivables are as follows:

B 5 RUGRERERNEIRBEEESHIT

2024 2023

20244 2023%F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FHET

At beginning of year F17 654 854
Impairment/(reversal of impairment), BAE, CRERE R ) F 5

net (note 7) (BfFEE7) 1,981 (176)

Amount written off as uncollectible 88 1 BT YR B B9 3R IE (63) (24)

At end of year FR 2,572 654

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns
(i.e., by geographical region). The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at
the reporting date about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group's trade receivables using a provision
matrix:
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024

21. EZRWFIA(E)

A2024%12831H

Past due
Current  1to30days 31to60days 61to90days 91to365days  Over 1year Total
ki 12308 312608 61290 9123657 BEE At
Expected credit loss rate~ BEEEFER 0.31% 0.64% 3.88% 13.66% 4.40% 100% 4.28%
Gross carrying amount ~ EEAE(TETT)
(HK$'000] 36,930 12,985 4,442 2,281 2,881 609 60,134
Expected credit losses ~ BAIEEEE(FET)
(HK$'000) 116 83 172 312 1,280 609 2,572
As at 31 December 2023 M2023F12831H
Past due
Current  1to30days 31t060days 61t090days 91t0365days  Over 1 year Total
5 12308 312608 61290  91Z365H BiRIF )
Expected creditloss rate B EEFEX 0.02% 0.09% 1.32% 8.58% 18.64% 100% 144%
Gross carrying amount ~ EEAE(THT)
(HK§'000] 37,499 4,704 1,586 688 649 440 45,566
Expected crecit losses ~ BHEEHR(TAT)
(HK$'000) 9 4 21 59 121 440 654
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31 December 2024
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22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

22. ENFHIA - BERAMERKIR

2024 2023

2024 20234

Note HK$'000 HK$'000

B 5T FET TFET

Prepayments T FRIE 12,916 5,643

Deposits and other receivables e N E i fEW RIE 17,653 14,905

Total @t 30,569 20,548

Less: Non-current portion W FEmEE D (a) (3,687) (2,671)

Current portion TEENEE D 26,882 17,877
Note: B e

(a) The amounts mainly represent prepayments for the acquisition of
property, plant and equipment and the non-current portion of rental
deposits.

The Group has applied the general approach to provide
for expected credit losses for financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables. The Group
considers the historical loss rate and adjusts for forward-
looking macroeconomic data in calculating the expected
credit loss rate. The Group has classified financial assets
included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables
in stage 1 and continuously monitors their credit risk. The
financial assets included in the above balances related to
receivables for which there was no recent history of default
and past due amounts. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the loss allowance was assessed to be minimal.
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31 December 2024
2024128318

23.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED 23. B4 RESZEYRCIKEE

DEPOSITS
2024 2023
20244 20234
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
B &E FET FHET
Cash and bank balances L RIRTTARR 59,952 34,158
Time deposits THIFX 12,873 14,575
Subtotal INET 72,825 48,733
Less: Pledged time deposits: B IR ERTER
Pledged for bank loans and bank B AIRITER LR
overdraft facilities TBEZREEN
Gl 32 (4,306) (14,575)
Cash and cash equivalents HeRESZEEY 68,519 34,158

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB")
amounted to HK$7,771,000 (2023: HK$2,655,000). The
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under Mainland China's Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, and Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made
for varying periods of one to two months depending on
the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn
interest at the respective short term time deposit rates.
The bank balances and pledged deposits are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
The carrying amounts of the cash and cash equivalents
approximate to their fair values.

RBEPRER  ZREBURARB(TAR
k¥ DFHEMIRS KRBTSR AE7,771,000
B0 (20234 © 2,655,000870) - AR
THERABAEMEE  AM  RESP
B PR b SN B BB AP LA B A5 DE - B S
EEERT  AEBEABAREEITINE
EBNBTBARBEBAEMER o

RITIRSREN T HIRITHFRF X Z
FRERIAE - EHATMFRHRA—
EMEA - BRI AKENARREF RIZ
PR RE RS HATE AT SRR BRERAB, » RITAEER
R BB SR NS B R iF B ST 8
RFRGLERHVIRTT ° RERINEFEYHER
E{EREAFERE -
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24. TRADE PAYABLES 24. B B EIFIE
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the RIEER  RIEZRZHEHNEZE S EMNK
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: TEEER YT -

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET TET

Within 1 month —EARN 26,093 16,593

1 to 2 months —Z=mW{EA 17,992 12,272

2 to 3 months MmZE =18 H 10,317 10,389

Over 3 months HBiE=1EH 9,831 18,069

Total @t 64,233 57,323
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally B SENFIBTRFE  WBENRIOEE
settled on 30 to 150-day terms (2023: 30 to 150-day terms). |%5)0 A W& I (20234 : 30H Z150 H

25. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 25. At BAFIAR Bt B A

2024 2023

20245 20234

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

Mt FET TFET

Other payables H At &5k (a) 25,647 21,751
Accruals FEFTE R 22,963 20,786
Contract liabilities AHEE (b) 7,280 11,616

Deferred government grant TERE BT 4 B (c) 288 431
Total @t 56,178 54,584
Less: Non-current portion W IERENER S (d) (160) (3,417)
Current portion RENER D 56,018 51,167
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25. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have generally no credit
terms.

Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

25. H

Hitt R AR BT E R (4

GEX

(a)

(b)

HAEMNFRETRE - —RUBEED -

BREEFBENT -

31 December 31 December 1 January
2024 2023 2023
2024128318 2023412A31H 202351 A1H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET
Short-term advances received from BEFINERA G EI K
customers 7,280 11,616 9,564

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to deliver printing
products to customers. The decrease in contract liabilities in 2024
was mainly due to the decrease in short-term advances received from
customers in relation to the sales of printing products at the end of the
year. The increase in contract liabilities in 2023 was mainly due to the
increase in short-term advances received from customers in relation to
the sale of printing products at the end of the year.

The amount represents a government grant received from the Provincial
Finance Bureau, Huizhou Province. This government grant is asset-related
and is amortised over the useful lives of the related assets, which is ten
years since May 2018.

These amounts represent the non-current portion of a government grant
and a consideration payable of an associate.

EREBERERMEF XN EIRIE @ T RER
FEHIRAIR 0 2024 F BN EERD I EEBRRF
KB R P UEA B4 & ENRIEE G i 58 B2 50R
DR ARBEER2023FFMEMDERMR
RERBEFPUBMEBBHEERERNE BB
BRI -

BHASBEEAEMNE M BERRNBRFHE -
ZERRHOEEMBRNEBEERNFA
FH(BNA2018F5 ARREH10F R #8Y -

ZECREBRNBMNERDBORBELR
FEFHRAE -

el
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26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 26. ;T ESRITER
2024 2023
2024 20235
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate per rate per
annum Maturity HK$'000 annum Maturity HK$'000

BRENE 28R TEr  ERENE HHR TR

Current )
Bank overdrafts - secured BIEL-BEE - - - 74%  Ondemand 4,091
(note (b){iv)) (Bt bliv) BEX
Bank loan - unsecured BOER-EEA - - - 3.9%  Ondemand 1816
(note (a)i) (Fir3E(alt)) BREX
Bank loan - unsecured BOER-EEA 4.5% 2025 2,861 - - -
Bank loan - secured BOER-FER - - - 2.5%  Ondemand 2,217
(note (b)(i)) GELI) BEL
Bank loan - secured BOER-FER - - - 7.213%  On demand 6,000
(note (b(iil (s b)i)) BEX
Bank loan - secured BOER-FER - - - 5.8% 2024 1,680
(note (blfii) (PR £ (o) i) 2024%
Bank loan - secured BOER-FHEA 3.9%  Ondemand 3,385 3639%  Ondemand 5,980
(note (o}(iv)) (HiE)iv) REX BEX
Total-current el 6,246 21,784
Non-current FENER
Bank loan - secured BOER-BHA - - - 5.8% 2025 1331
(note (b)) (PFEZE (o) i) 2025%
Total e 6,246 23,115
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Analysed into: DA
Bank loans and overdrafts repayable: EERRITERRESY
Within one year or on demand —FRNIIREK 6,246 21,784
In the second year E_F - 1,331
Total MGt 6,246 23,115
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31 December 2024

2024%12A31H

26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

26. 5t BRITER (4

Notes: Bt E

(a) (i) The bank loan was guaranteed by unlimited corporate guarantees (a) () RITERTIBHARAFN2023F12A3184
given by the Company as at 31 December 2023. TR R A RIERATHER ©

(b) () The key management insurance contract with a carrying amount of (b) () B M fE % 6,067,000 /& 7T ( 2023 F :
approximately HK$6,067,000 (2023: HK$5,940,000) was pledged to 5,940,000 C) MEZERABRBEL
secure the bank loans granted to the Group. BHEAR - UESETFAREEZRITER -

(i) The bank loan was secured by the pledge of certain of the Group's (i) ZBITERTIAAEEN2023F12A31H
time deposits amounting to HK$4,154,000 and the corporate IR 2 5 T EHB1F 504,154,000 T A K AR
guarantee of the Company as at 31 December 2023. NRARM 2 ARIERATER -

(i) The bank loan and bank overdrafts were secured by the pledge of (i) ZBTERRBRITEINBHAEBRR
certain of the Group’s time deposits amounting to HK$10,421,000 as 2023F 12 ABMHEFZEFTEHER
at 31 December 2023. 10,421,000/ TLATHEAR ©

(iv) The bank loans are secured by plant and machinery with a net book (iv) MBS RRMF14FTF L - RIREER
value of approximately HK$6,822,000 (2023: HK$7,675,000) at the 2R 1T E A RE H1E 46,822,000 7T
end of the reporting period as detailed in note 14 to the financial (20234 : 7,675,000/ 7T ) KB K i 23 B
statements. BR e

(c) The carrying amounts of borrowings are denominated in the following (c) BEFRREEEN T EEE:

currencies:

2024 2023

2024F 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FAT

Hong Kong dollar BT 3,385 20,898
RMB AR 2,861 =
United States dollar E - 2,217
Total 4t 6,246 23,115
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26. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

Ignoring the effect of any repayment on demand clause and
based on the maturity terms of the bank loans and bank
overdrafts, the amounts repayable in respect of the Group's
interest-bearing bank borrowings were analysed as follows:

26. ;T ESRITER(E)

B 1% KB R R B AR KRR
TERRRITES OB BGER - REEK
SHRRITIERZ BEEREDMAT

31 December 31 December

2024 2023
2024F12H31H 2023F12H31H
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TFET
Analysed into: DA -
Bank loans and bank overdrafts EEERITER LR
repayable: B
Within one year —FR 5,658 16,881
In the second year EF 688 4,727
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E=FFRF
(BIEEEMTE) - 1,507
Total st 6,246 23,115
27. DEFERRED TAX 27 JEERIE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets are as EHRBEREIEEZHNT
follows:
Deferred tax liabilities EEHRIEEE
Accelerated
Right-of- tax
use assets depreciation Total
FHEEE MERBERE Mt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
At 1 January 2023 2023F1A18 4,996 3,100 8,096
Deferred tax charged to the FANBGREBERMGRA
consolidated statement of B IE(FIFE1)
profit or loss during the year
(note 11) 711 364 1,075
Exchange realignment P& 3 (177) (73) (250)
At 31 December 2023 and 2023F12A318 K&
1 January 2024 20241 A1H 5,530 3,391 8,921
Deferred tax charged to the FRBGZEBRERIBRK
consolidated statement of EERIE(FIET)
profit or loss during the year
(note 11) 5,072 89 5,161
Exchange realignment M 1 3 (172) (142) (314)
At 31 December 2024 M2024F12A31H 10,430 3,338 13,768
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27. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 27 EERE(E)
Deferred tax assets FEIER BB E

Losses
available for
offsetting
against
future
taxable Lease
profits liabilities Others Total
GRS
RRERD
RN EE HEERE it wsr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TR THET THT

At 1 January 2023 ®2023%F1 818 1,482 5,398 102 6,982
Deferred tax credited to the ERFAGEEBERNELRE

consolidated statement of profitor — (Pif5E11)

loss during the year (note 11) 87 711 2 800
Exchange realignment Rk - (177) = (177)
At 31 December 2023 and M2023F12A318 K

1 January 2024 20241418 1,569 5,932 104 7,605

Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the EREr A (IR GEBERL
consolidated statement of profitor — IEIERIIA(HIEE11)

loss during the year (note 11) (220) 5,072 (30) 4,822
Exchange realignment i 5 A% - (172) - (172)
At 31 December 2024 20245 12A318 1,349 10,832 74 12,255
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31 December 2024
2024F12H31H

27. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)
Deferred tax assets (Continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial
position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax
balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

Net deferred tax assets recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial
position

27. EERIE(E)
ERERBEE(E)

RIS  ETEEHBAEERAGD
R BARRFEH - REBIEM B RS
REHRIERBAERONAT

2023
20234
HK$'000
FHET

KRB BRI R HERR A
EXERAEEFRR

506

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in PR A PR RERS

the consolidated statement of financial
position

Net deferred tax liabilities

The Group has estimated unrecognised tax losses of
approximately HK$81,574,000 (2023: HK$89,080,000).
Unrecognised tax losses arising in Hong Kong and certain
foreign operations of approximately HK$18,595,000 (2023:
HK$20,447,000) are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the
losses arose.

The Group also has estimated tax losses arising from certain
foreign operations other than Hong Kong in an aggregate
amount of HK$62,979,000 (2023: HK$68,633,000) that will
expire in five years to twenty years for offsetting against
future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses
arose.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses as, in the opinion of the directors, they have
arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some
time and it is not probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

Cirtek Holdings Limited ¢ 2024 Annual Report

ELERARR

FHE

(1,822)

(1,316)

AEBERAABERREBEEBE Y
81,574,000/ 7T (20234 : 89,080,000/
TL) c MEBEBRE TIEINEBELHNARE
R IER1E#918,5695,000/8 7T (20234 -
20,447,000/8 7T ) A R HA FA LASK SR &= A
ZEBENRRCRRERBUEF o

AEEIE i EE A BB OE T8
SN 5 2 BIB K518 A £ 562,979,000
70 (20234 : 68,633,000/87C) * 2 E M
EEEENEFE - +FERNEIE - AR
B A RSB R A2 KRR
7 o

E=RA AaRNEREBEBERIELBERE
ELER—BRERENMBAR - MAKRE
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27. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 27. EERIE(E)

At 31 December 2024, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes
of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China
(2023: Nil). In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable
that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the
foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with the investments in subsidiaries

M2024F12A8318  MEREFBE A
PR EAMTENB O AEEWE R R/
KEM A FEHFEINT M ERELEH
H(2023F : &) - EERA - EAI LB
R ZEMBRATRAED RZSFR
# o FA2024%F12A31H » MARERIELT
REEaERPRRNBHEBRRIKENE
BFE %4 H4950,961,00078 7T (20234 -

in Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not
been recognised totalled approximately HK$50,961,000 at 31
December 2024 (2023: HK$41,700,000).

41,700,000 7T) °

773 ) ) B AR RO A IR 48 T 15 B B

There are no income tax consequences attached to the

payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders. 2o
28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. IR
Number of
shares in issue Share capital
21T
ROER [N
HK$'000
FAT
Authorised: AR ¢
As at 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, F72023%F1H1H ~
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 2023F12A318 -
2024F1A1B K
2024F12H31H 5,000,000,000 50,000
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Issued and fully paid: BRI
2,000,000,000 (2023: 2,000,000,000) 2,000,000,000% &
ordinary shares A% (20234 -
2,000,000,000% ) 20,000 20,000
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28. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

28. A (&)

A summary of movements in the Company's share capital is RARRAEBREZNT -
as follows:
Number of
shares in issue Share capital
217
BB [N
HK$'000
FHET
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, 7202341818 ~ 20234
1 January 2024 and 128318 ~ 202441818
31 December 2024 202412 A31H 2,000,000,000 20,000
Treasury shares EFR G
A summary of movements in the Company’s treasury shares ARAREFRDEBHBMES 0T ¢
is as follows:
Number of
ordinary
shares Amount
ZEREE Gkt
HK$'000
FHT
At 1 January 2023, 720231 A1H ~ 20235
31 December 2023 and 12 A31H &2024F181H
1 January 2024 = =
Purchased during the year (note) FrREA (M) 10,410,000 416
At 31 December 2024 72024 12H31H 10,410,000 416

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company purchased
10,410,000 (2023: Nil) of its shares on the Stock Exchange at a total
consideration of HK$416,000. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had
10,410,000 (2023: Nil) purchased shares classified as treasury shares.

Share options
Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share

options issued under the scheme are included in note 29 to
the financial statements.
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 29. B FERTE

A share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was approved
and adopted by the Company on 21 February 2020. The
purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Company to grant
options to selected participants as incentives or rewards for
their contribution to the Group. Unless terminated by the
Company by resolution in general meeting, the Scheme will
remain in force for 10 years from that date.

The Directors may, at their absolute discretion, invite
any person belonging to any of the following classes of
participants, to take up options to subscribe for the shares of
the Company (“Shares”) under the Scheme: (a) any employee
or proposed employee (whether full-time or part-time and
including any executive Director), consultants or advisers of,
or, to the Company, any of the subsidiaries or any entity (the
“Invested Entity”) in which the Company holds an equity
interest (collectively, the Company, any of the subsidiaries or
the Invested Entity are referred to as the “Relevant Parties”);
(b) any non-executive Directors (including independent non-
executive Directors) of, any supplier of goods or services
to, any customer of and any person or entity that provides
research, development or other technological support to, the
Relevant Parties; and (c) any Shareholders or any shareholder
of any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity or any holder
of any securities issued by the Relevant Parties. For the
purposes of the Scheme, the options may be granted to any
company wholly-owned by one or more persons belonging to
any of the above classes of participants.

KA TIR20205F2 21 BHLAE R ERAER
A ([ 8l)) - ZETEMmBEMmAER
AEFAQA MEKRHDEER LB
o EREHALEEL BRI
R o BRIEADRRBERE ELURZEERS
AR ZAtEEEZ B BET10FR
HREH -

EXT2ENBEEFER T2EEE
MER A TR RBAE - URE&AT8IR
TEARRBED (TRE ) :(@ARdE - &
EIME AR KRR AR ERHEEREDN
TRER(REBER D NEMNEEIHE
ERE(TwmERERE  BREMRT
E=x) BEHEKBAAKRE - EMAH
BREIZREBERGES [AEALD
RO EBALNERFERATESR(RHE
BIUFATESR)  EAEMIRBHE
A EAEF RERRAREA RS
7 ABEREMRMSENEMALRE
B8 Re)EMRRKE MM E AT
BRFEMIRE BRI BAALRITHE
AREFZEARFEA - Bzt 8mE - B
PR R X T B _ B 2 B E R Rl A —
2HEZBALTEEERNEAAF -
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The maximum number of Shares to be issued upon exercise
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Group must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time. No options
may be granted under any schemes of the Company or the
subsidiary of the Company if such grant will result in the
maximum number being exceeded. The total number of
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to
be granted under the Scheme and any other schemes of the
Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in
issue (excluding treasury shares) i.e., 200,000,000 as at the
date of this annual report). Options lapsed in accordance with
the terms of the Scheme or any other schemes will not be
counted for the purpose of calculating the 10% limit.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options granted under the Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Group (including both
exercised and outstanding options) to each participant in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares
then in issue (excluding treasury shares). Any further
grant of the Options in excess of this limit is subject to
Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting. Each grant
of option under the Scheme to a Director, chief executive
or substantial Shareholder, or to any of their associates,
is subject to approval in advance by the independent non-
executive Directors. In addition, any grant of option under the
Scheme to a substantial Shareholder or an independent non-
executive Director, or to any of their associates, in excess
of 0.1% of the Shares in issue (excluding treasury shares)
at any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price
of the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess
of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, is subject to
Shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 29. BB RESTEI(Z)

An option may be accepted by a participant within 28 days
from the date of the grant of the option. The Directors may,
at their absolute discretion, fix any minimum period for which
an option must be held, any performance targets that must
be achieved and any other conditions that must be fulfilled
before the options can be exercised upon the grant of an
option to a participant.

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any option
granted under the Scheme, subject to any adjustments made
in accordance with the Scheme, shall be such price as the
Board in its absolute discretion shall determine, provided that
such price shall not be less than the highest of (i) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet for the five business days (as defined
in the Listing Rules) immediately preceding the date of grant
of the option (which must be a business day (as defined
in the Listing Rules)); (i) the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the
date of grant of the option (which must be a business day
(as defined in the Listing Rules)); and (iii) the nominal value
of the Shares. A consideration of HK$1.00 is payable on
acceptance of the offer of the grant of an option.

There are no cash settlement alternatives. The Group does
not have a past practice of cash settlement for these share
options. The Group accounts for the Scheme as an equity-
settled plan.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

SEEAERHEREE AR 28AR
EMIERE - EFNMSHEER D ERER
A2 EMNIEETE VAR B IREN &2
M EANEERRRR B ZE RN ERE
A F 1758 A WA 7B 2 AR A (R (] EL A A1 o

$E%J§EZ:+2IH§&E’Mﬂﬁjﬁ%&%*ﬁ%@ﬁ%’ﬁm

RBEEEHEETS2ENBEE (TRE
;Z#%IH’%EH%E%) CMEZEBRIEE
iNINTIE=ST=0b=4=1 (WD R EEFR D
BERERBH(VEAREXBH(EER LM
AP ABELEREBIAFARE
KEATROFHRTE (RO LE
BBV EAREXB(EERL LTR
B EBMRASHRERARKTE
&(iii BONEE BEARLEREEZLN
RFEZ S RET.00/ T ©

VERASHEEBRNTR - AEEBELE
RZEFBREETREEENED - AE
B8R A —REEEEE -
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 29. BB fESTBI(&)
The following share options were outstanding under the AT AERZTEE NFRNHMAITENER
Scheme during the year: 1
2024 2023
2024 2023F
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price options  exercise price options
MEEEIIITEE BEREHE METHTEE B
HKS$ per share 1000 HKS$ per share 000
BRET T BET Fn
At 1 January ®1A18 0.057 2,000 0.057 2,000
Granted during the year RERRH = - - -
At 31 December 128318 0.057 2,000 0.057 2,000
No share options were exercised during the years of 2024 20244 K 2023F A EEAREEITE o
and 2023.
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options R EBR AR TENBIRETEEB T
outstanding as at the end of the reporting period are as EERAN T -
follows:
2024 20245
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREHE TEE* 1T{EHEA
‘000 HKS$ per share
T 15 BRBT
1,000 0.057 31-12-21 to 14-9-25
31-12-21£14-9-25
1,000 0.057 31-12-23 to 14-9-25
31-12-23£14-9-25
2,000
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 29. BB fEST BI(&)
2023 2023%F

Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BixESE T E" 1T H

‘000 HK$ per share

F1n BRATT
1,000 0.057 31-12-21 to 14-9-25
31-12-21%14-9-25
1,000 0.057 31-12-23 to 14-9-25
31-12-23%14-9-25

2,000

The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the
case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s
share capital.

The fair value of the share options granted during the year
of 2020 was HK$50,000 (HK$0.025 each) of which no
share option expense was recognised by the Group (2023:
HK$8,000) during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted
during the year of 2020 was estimated as at the date of
grant using a binomial model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were granted. The
following table lists the inputs to the model used:

* R RS ALIRET RA R ARA LR A
EHRD - ABRETEEAT B -

R2200F ERLERENRFES
50,0005 7T (F170.025/87T) » EfpARLE
BREZE2024F12 A31H It FE I EHRE
PR AR R 2 (20234F ¢ 8,000/ 7T) °

MR 20204 2 B & th M IR AN 45 B B AR 0
RFETIRE L B RER AR EER
2 WALE IR R AR B R R S R A 1R
fE - TRFIIZRAMERNHAE

2020

20204

Spot price (HK$) REEGET) 0.055
Exercise price (HK$) TEEGET) 0.057
Dividend yield (%) f& 2 E%R(%) -
Expected volatility (%) TE B 18 (%) 56.65
Risk-free interest rate (%) [ B M) 2R (%) 0.18
Exercise multiple TEEE 2.8
Expected life of options (years) REARETERTFHA () 5
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29.

30.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated
into the measurement of fair value.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
2,000,000 share options outstanding under the Scheme.
The exercise in full of the outstanding share options would,
under the present capital structure of the Company, result
in the issue of 2,000,000 additional ordinary shares of the
Company and additional share capital of HK$20,000 (before
issue expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 2,000,000 share options outstanding under
the Scheme, which represented approximately 0.1% of the
Company’s shares (excluding treasury shares) in issue as at
that date.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
therein for current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 62 of
the financial statements.

(a) Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the aggregate of the paid-
up share capital of the subsidiaries now comprising the
Group attributable to the Controlling Shareholders prior to
the Reorganisation.

The balance of the merger reserve at 31 December 2024
and 2023 mainly represented the deemed distribution
to the Controlling Shareholders by issuance of the
Company’s shares pursuant to the Reorganisation.

(b) Exchange fluctuation reserve
The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all relevant
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations.

(c) Share premium
The share premium represents the difference between

the par value of the shares issued and the consideration
paid for the Reorganisation.
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31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

FLOWS

(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

. RERSRMEBRME

(a) MEFBELENEEEE

Interest-

bearing bank Lease

borrowings liabilities

FFERITER HEEE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

At 1 January 2023 72023F1 818 20,882 30,188

Changes from financing cash flows MEBESREES (1,858) (12,026)

Bank overdrafts RITEX 4,091 -

New leases & = 6,991

Lease modification HEEET = 736

Foreign exchange movement fE i & = (824)

Interest expense FEHZ - 1,818
Interest paid classified as DEABERESREN

financing cash flows ETHE = (1,818)
At 31 December 2023 and R2023F12A318 &

1 January 2024 202451 H1H 23,115 25,065
Changes from financing cash flows MEEEREE (16,802) (12,439)
New leases EE - 49,991
Termination Sl — (2,005)
Foreign exchange movement (s (67) 814
Interest expense FMERX = 1,743
Interest paid classified as DERBERESREN

financing cash flows ERTHE — (1,743)
At 31 December 2024 7K2024%12A31H 6,246 61,426

(b) Major non-cash transactions

(b) EE2FBRERSH

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
had non-cash additions to right of use assets and lease
liabilities of HK$49,991,000 (2023: HK$7,940,000) and
HK$49,991,000 (2023: HK$6,991,000), respectively, in
respect of lease arrangements for property.

HZE2024F 12831 BHIEFE » A&
EmEHERHNFERAEEERME
& a8 EH 5HE49,991,00058 7T (2023
F 1 7,940,000 7T ) £&.49,991,000/%
7t (20234 : 6,991,000/ 7T ) IR &
RE °
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31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 31. 4B REXWI(£)
FLOWS (Continued)

(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HEMNBESRLAAEE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the AR RERNEERS RHB%E
statement of cash flows is as follows: (N
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Within operating activities SFARK L EE 930 969
Within financing activities sTARNE R B 14,182 13,844
Total da=t 15,112 14,813
32. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 32. EEEAR
Details of the Group's assets pledged for the Group's bank ARESAEEBTERMEBERNAERE
loans are included in note 26 to the financial statements. EFBEHN ISR EMTE26 ©
33. COMMITMENTS 33. &
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the REREHAR - NEFEB T A XEIE -
following contractual commitments:
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Plant and machinery W M 23 13,164 1,947
Total st 13,164 1,947
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) The Group had the following transactions with related
parties during the year:

4. BB ARS

(a) AEBRFANBATREB TS

2024 2023
202445 20234
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
B EE FERT FET
Associate: i N

Sales of products HEEM (i) 2,811 1,402
Commission expense R (ii) 5,100 2,676

Notes: BiEE -

(i) The sales to the associate were made according to the published
prices and conditions offered to the major customers of the Group,
except that a longer credit period of up to six months is normally
granted.

(i) The commission expense arose from the sale of products of a
subsidiary arranged by the associate, which in return received a
commission based on 3% to 5% of the transaction value.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive's
emoluments are included in note 9 to the financial
statements.

(i)

(i)

i
e
=
&

MEBERARNBEENREBASEEEER
FIREMAMERS RIGHEETT BT
FEZNEANRKREEHRI -
HeRMITELEEBE AR LHNNME AR
EmHEE  FRRWR  BEXHEMI%E
5% WEUHE °

(b) AEEXEEEASHE

EENTBTRASMENE—FF
ICESYpLEEL T
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

35. ERE s MEeEmI A

Financial
asset at Financial
fair value assets at
through amortised
profit or loss cost Total
BAFE E7g: ST 1D
T AR TEN
ERIEE SREE HEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK’000
FET FE&T FE T
2024 20245
Financial assets EREE
Trade receivables B S EWFIE - 57,562 57,562
Financial assets included in HAFENTIE - #E2 R
prepayments, deposits and E b IR TN & R
other receivables BiE - 17,653 17,653
Financial asset at fair value BRAFEFABERN
through profit or loss TRVEE 6,067 = 6,067
Pledged deposits [ ERER N - 4,306 4,306
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEED - 68,519 68,519
Total HEt 6,067 148,040 154,107
Financial
asset at Financial
fair value assets at
through amortised
profit or loss cost Total
BEAFE bi7g - £
A= FTEM
CREE TREE BET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK'000
FHET FET FHET
2023 20235
Financial assets EREE
Trade receivables Z 5 W GRIA = 44,912 44,912
Financial assets included in STABNERE  ZER
prepayments, deposits and E b IR FRTE N & Rl
other receivables BE = 14,905 14,905
Financial asset at fair value BAFEFABZH
through profit or loss TENEE 5,940 = 5,940
Pledged deposits B FER = 14,575 14,575
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEeFEY - 34,158 34,158
Total MGt 5,940 108,550 114,490
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35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (Continued)

35. REABIBTHERTAE)

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

BRBERATENERMEAE

2024 2023
202445 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT FHET
Financial liabilities cRBaE

Trade payables g SN IE 64,233 57,323

Financial liabilities included in other ST AE A BB FRIE K AT
payables and accruals ERMNSRAEE 6,997 6,358
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTEIRITER 6,246 23,115
Lease liabilities HEEE 61,426 25,065
Total st 138,902 111,861

36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 36. 2R IENATFERAFEER

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The carrying amount and fair value of the Group's financial
instrument, other than those with carrying amounts that

reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

As at 31 December 2024

AEEEBMTANKEENRAFEGRR
BEAFESEREERIMNDOT

A2024%12831H

Carrying
amount Fair value
BREE AEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET
Financial asset EREE
Financial asset at fair value through profit or X AFET ABRZH SR
loss BE 6,067 6,067

As at 31 December 2023

72023%F12H31H

Carrying
amount Fair value
IREE NEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT FHT
Financial asset EMEE
Financial asset at fair value through profit or R AFET ABRH SR
loss BE 5,940 5,940
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, the pledged deposits, trade receivables,
financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, trade payables, financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals and current portion of lease
liabilities approximate to their carrying amounts largely due
to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’'s finance department headed by the finance
manager is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The finance manager reports directly to the
chief financial officer and the audit committee. At each
reporting date, the finance department analyses the
movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief financial
officer. The valuation process and results are discussed
with the audit committee twice a year for interim and annual
financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of non-current deposits and other payables,
lease liabilities and interest-bearing bank borrowings have
been calculated by discounting the expected future cash
flows using rates currently available for instruments with
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities, and were
assessed to approximate to their carrying amounts. The
Group's own non-performance risk for interest-bearing bank
borrowings as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 was assessed
to be insignificant.

The fair value of a key management insurance contract
classified as a financial asset at fair value through profit or
loss is based on the account value less surrender charge,
quoted by the vendor. The directors believe that the estimated
fair value resulting from the valuation technique, which is
recorded in the consolidated statement of financial position,
and the related change in fair value, which is recorded in profit
or loss, is reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate
values at the end of the reporting period.
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TRABALHERENRSBNZAFE
HEREERS  DEEHRZFTAL
HIR ST R

AEBUMKEESENMBEFIAEE
EEMIAZ AFEFENBRIRERF °
MBEEERAMBRAERERZZEER
FoREREAHY - MBEHFINTEHMT
AEENEHTETHEMANTIEHA
8- HEHMBEEEHRIE  WEE
BZBeBFMANTHRFEMBRE
B EBRERERETW

TREENBENAFERBRES (7
EHBFREERINEEAR S THAR
BZTANESBEAR - THTTERKRR
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R TR EEMEMNTE  HAEAaER
T ESRITERA A FEIRE B A ELUE
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 36. ¢ TENAFERAFEBR(E)

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Set out below is a summary of significant unobservable
inputs to the valuation of financial instruments together with
a quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2024
and 2023:

Valuation Significant
technique unobservable input

fRHERN BERATITEEHAE

TRE#Y ST AGER2024F %2023
F12A3MAZEARATAERGAEER
FEHREINMPE :

Value

HE

Sensitivity of fair
value to the input
N EHBAE
ZHBE

Key management N/A  Account values
insurance contract TEA RPEE
classified as a financial
asset at fair value
through profit or loss

PEREANTEFABRZ
CREENETEEEAR
RBE L

Surrender charge
RRER

HK$7,041,000
7,041,000 7T
(2023:
HK$6,949,000)
(20234 :
6,949,000 7T)

HK$974,000
974,000/ 7T
(2023:
HK$1,009,000)
(2023% :
1,009,000/ 7T )

5% (2023: 5%)
increase
(decrease) in
account values
would result
in increase
(decrease) in
fair value by
HK$352,000
(2023:
HK$347,000)

REEELEACTE)
5% (20234 : 5%)
B AFEL
F (T~ PF&)352,000
7L (20234F ¢
347,000/ 7T)

5% (2023: 5%)
increase
(decrease) in
surrender charge
would result
in increase
(decrease) in
fair value by
HK$49,000
(2023:
HK$50,000)

RIREREACTR)
5% (2023%F : 5%)
BN FE B
("RF%)49,0007 7T
(20234 : 50,000
BIT)
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Asset measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2024

N EBR
TERELAEEESHRT A AFENEE
A -

BATEHE2RE -

#2024%F12A31H

Fair value measurement using

36. EMTANAFERDIFERBRGE)

AEATERRER
Quoted

prices in Significant Significant

active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs

AVE BT i BAUEE EAFTHER

ZHE BAE BAE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(514) (5524%) (5348) A5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000
TET TEr TET TET

Financial asset at fair value BATER ABR
through profit or loss SREE - - 6,067 6,067
As at 31 December 2023 A2023%F12831H
Fair value measurement using
HEATERER
Quoted

prices in Significant Significant

active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs

N BAUBE EAXTIER

ZHE BAE BAE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
(B18R) ($28) (£3%) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAET THER THT

Financial asset at fair value BAFEFABEN

through profit or loss SRBE - - 5,940 5,940
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36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The movement in fair value measurement within Level 3
during the year are as follows:

36. EMTANAFERDFERBRGE)

DNFHEBR(E)

FR - FIRANDXFHEFEZBOT

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FHET

At 1 January W1 A1H 5,940 5,803
Total gains recognised in profit or  MWIBaSFERHI U 25 4258

loss 127 137

At 31 December ®12A31H 6,067 5,940

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at
fair value as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities (2023: Nil).

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments include cash
and cash equivalents, pledged deposits, trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables, trade payables, other
payables and accruals, interest-bearing bank borrowings and
lease liabilities.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

MR20245 2023512 A31H » REE
EAMEATEFENSREE -

FR  ¢2MEENSHBES1HRESE?2
WA FEAEZEIEERE - E3WIN
EEE A s 8 (20234 @ &) -

37. AR EEBEERBE

AEEXZENSRTARBERERASSE
EY  CEAER  EZREUGE  ZE
REMEKIA - BHRENIA - HbE
NREMEHER  FHERTERNEE
BfE-

EFEAEESRTIANTERARRINEG
Rk - FMXER FERRERSESE
B EFTRMLBEEREESHERR
MVBERER - BEAEn R o
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from sales or purchases by operating units in
currencies other than the units’ functional currencies.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
the Hong Kong dollar exchange rate, with all other variables
held constant, of the Group's profit/(loss) before tax (arising
from Renminbi denominated financial instruments) and the
Group's equity.

37. BERERE B ERBE(E)

SN R

AEEEEBEXHEERR - ZFRARKE
LEBN(EREMREEE AN EEH
HEITZSHESIRE -

TR SRS B R A H A A
FHHTEOWRT - ARENHRH A
R/ (B 1R) (574 B A A RIS 2 ER S B
TR)RASENMHLETEE AR
BB BB -

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease) Increase/
in exchange in profit (decrease)
rate before tax in equity*
b R I A2 FEmIGM,
(Tr&) i, Cd) OR ) *
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT
As at 31 December 2024 2024F12H31H
If Renminbi weakens against HK$ {4 A B H & LB (& 5 (2,052) =
If Renminbi strengthens against i A R H & THHE
HK$ (5) 2,052 -
Increase/ Decrease/
(decrease) (increase) Increase/
in exchange in loss (decrease)
rate before tax in equity*
B EA BREAIER R,
(RE&) @A,/ (38an) Rt *
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
As at 31 December 2023 7A2023F12A31H
If Renminbi weakens against HK$ fiti A R 348 A7 (B 5 (1,961) -
If Renminbi strengthens against  fiff A R#E K & T HHAE
HK$ (5) 1,961 _

*  Excluding retained profits
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 37. BiXEREEEERBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)
Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group's bank
borrowings with floating interest rates. The interest rates
and terms of repayment of the Group’'s borrowings are
disclosed in note 26 to the financial statements. The Group's
policy is to obtain the most favourable interest rates available
for its borrowings. Management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposures should the need arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates at the end of
the reporting period, with all other variables held constant,
of the Group’s profit/(loss) before tax (through the impact on
floating rate borrowings).

R =R m R

7N 5% B H B Y T 5 N R B B = B B
REBHTRIRITERERH - NAEEE
TR B ) 2 R B IR A5 SR B 7% i KR PR R 26
BE - AEENBRDSEERFNR
BEME - FEERTMEER - TR
FERBEZREPERNMEE L -

TRIAARBEMREMGEMAIER
EREFTENBERT  NREBRKRBA
Al (BE) CBBRE T SERNTE)
RGBT REEEBNHRE -

Increase/

Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in in profit
basis points before tax

BEREH BRT AR A
(TRE) 180, Cri2)

HK$'000
FHET

As at 31 December 2024 7"2024%12831H
Hong Kong dollar BT 100 (62)
Hong Kong dollar BT (100) 62
Decrease/
Increase/ (increase)
(decrease) in in loss
basis points before tax
b Nava FRELRIEE
(FE&)  md /(Em)
HK$'000
FHT

As at 31 December 2023 7"2023%F12H31H
Hong Kong dollar BT 100 (231)
Hong Kong dollar BT (100) 231

The change in interest rates at the end of the reporting
period, with all other variables held constant, had no impact
on the Group’s equity excluding retained profits for the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

WEHRNF R 8 (B EM A EE
REFTENBER N EAREEE E2024
FR2023F12 A3 A ILFER (T
BRERBEN)HEFE -
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group's policy that only well-established
customers will be considered for open account terms and the
approval of credit terms is subject to stringent credit check
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored
on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts
is not significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31 December. The
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial

37. BERERE B ERBE(E)

FERR

AEEERATRAREBREINE=ZTR
5 o ARENRRREHELEANETF
ZRBRR G B EE RO ERE TR
SERERRRF o I AEEREEER
Witsh - MASBEZRERY ANEAX -

T%%WJ M2ABBERAKBEER
R(EBREBEAMERGIE @ BRIFEMBE
FHBAMN B A B ERAHE AR EF)
MEEERERAEERROARFER
EROB - I EBEATREEZIRER
-

assets.
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 4
BHEEEE 2HEHEESE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E ERER E3E AR H)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T TiEx T# THT
As at 31 December 2024 120245128318
Trade receivables* Z S = - - 60,134 60,134
Financial assets included in SIABRTE B2 R
prepayments, deposits and 8 ENE T
other receivables** TREE* 17,653 - - - 17,653
Pledged deposits [REiRTESS
- Not yet past due -AmH 4,306 - - - 4,306
Cash and cash equivalents ReRAEFED
- Not yet past due -ABH 68,519 - - - 68,519
Total st 90,478 - - 60,134 150,612
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 37. BiXEREEEERBE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued) SE Rk (E)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) A B 5 N F AR ()
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8A
BHEEER PHREEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F1RE EYLE F3MEE BitAst e

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T TiEm THT TR

As at 31 December 2023 120235127318
Trade receivables* B o RN S = = 45,566 45,566
Financial assets included in SABAFE - k2R

prepayments, deposits and HiEWFIER

other receivables** TREE 14,905 - - - 14,905
Pledged deposits BERAER

- Not yet past due - AR 14,575 - - - 14,575
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY

- Not yet past due Nk 34,158 = = = 34,158
Total it 63,638 - - 45,566 109,204

* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach * MAEBEAGELIRNETRENE 5 R
for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in EMmMsS @ ERREEENEE RN BHRRW T
note 21 to the financial statements. 21355 -

**  The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, ** HAJEMNZKE REeREMEKRZRENSHE
deposits and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when they EZEEBERN RV EERKRAZES
are not past due or there is no information indicating that the financial REAEBYSHAREZERAMBEZL NGRS
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. BIE®] o
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk concentration

Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for
collateral. The Group had certain concentrations of credit
risk as the trade receivables in terms of the following
percentages were due from the Group's largest external
customer and the Group's five largest external customers
out of the Group's total trade receivables:

37. BERERE B ERBE(E)

FERBREF

HRASEEESZ A REERINE=
RS WEFHEER - AKEEETE
EEPER - THRRATEZEBKRIEAN
AEERE SRVRBLBENB DL TIBEA
SERAINBER RAKBERAINGER
R

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
% %
Due from the Group's largest external FEUL AR & B & RN R P
customer B 8 6
Due from the Group's five largest external  JEUNAEE R AN R B
customers A 20 19
Liquidity risk nEBESREE

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets
and projected cash flows from operations.

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between

continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank
borrowings and funds generated from operations.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at

the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual and
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

37. BEBRERE B ERBE(E)

RBEESREM(E)

AEERBREMRENE O RARRERN
FHERBESIHMRRET

Less than 3 to less than More than
Ondemand  3months 12 months 1to5 years 5 years Total
BER  SR3MEA 3Z12EAUT 125% BEN L @t

HK$'000 HK$'000

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL TAL

As at 31 December 2024 2024128310
Trade payables ZHRATE - 64,233 - - - 64,233
Financial liabilities included in 5t \E MM FVIE ]

other payables and accruals ~ EBRNSREE - 6,997 - - - 6,997
Interest-bearing bank SHRBRTRER

borrowings 3,459 2,864 - - - 6,323
Lease liabilities MERRE = 3,158 9,116 28,169 46,641 87,084
Total Bzt 3,459 77,252 9,116 28,169 46,641 164,637
As at 31 December 2023 12023128318
Trade payables BV R - 57,323 = = = 57,323
Financial liabilities included in 5 AE{tiJER Z0E &

other payables and accruals ~ E:EARSRARE 16 6,342 = S = 6,358
Interest-bearing bank SHERITER

borrowings 20,876 454 1,363 1,363 - 24,056
Lease liabilities HERE = 4,050 8,358 15,674 10,496 38,578
Total Bt 20,892 68,169 9,721 17,037 10,496 126,315

The Group's term loans and bank overdrafts with a
repayment on demand clause in the amount of HK$3,459,000
(2023: HK$20,876,000) were repayable after one year in
accordance with the terms of the loans. The loan agreements
contained a repayment on demand clause giving the bank
the unconditional right to call in the loans at any time and
therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity profile, the
amount is classified as “on demand”.

7N £ B 5 803,459,000 % JT (2023 4 -
20,876,00078 7T ) ff 75 4% B KB B 1R EY
EHERRRITEREA BERAFER
BR—FRER - BERHHESRERE
BIGHR - Z G T RITIMER B R B R
HERERRERN - Bt - 5L B2 HR
AME - BERERDER [REK] -
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors do not
believe that the loans will be called in their entirety within
12 months, and they consider that the loans will be repaid
in accordance with the maturity dates as set out in the loan
agreements. This evaluation was made considering: the
financial position of the Group at the date of this report; the
Group’s compliance with the loan covenants; the lack of
events of default; and the fact that the Group has made all
previously scheduled repayments on time.

As at 31 December 2024, in accordance with the terms of
the loans, the contractual undiscounted payments were
HK$5,631,000 due within one year and HK$692,000 due in
the second year.

As at 31 December 2023, in accordance with the terms of
the loans, the contractual undiscounted payments were
HK$17,398,000 due within one year, HK$4,983,000 due in
the second year, and HK$1,675,000 due after two years.

Market price risk

Market price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of
equity indices and the value of individual securities. The
Group is exposed to market price risk arising from key
management insurance contracts classified as financial
asset at fair value through profit or loss (note 18) as at 31
December 2024 and 2023.
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REBE SR ()

BEA LRGSR EFATRAEEER
BERBAANEZREE YR RERE
FERBEER BRI AER -8
B EEERTIIBEREEL - AKER
AifE BHOM RN « AEBHERR
AHAREN  RAMBREOEMF kX
SECRKEELAMAEEER

R2024%F 12 A31H @ RIEE KGR
R—FARIBNEORMBENRAE
5,631,000 7L - REZFHNHH A
692,000 T °

MR2023F12 8318 @ RIBETIER
R—FREIBANEORMBENRAE
17,398,000 8L ' RE_F I HM A
4,983,000 7L - "M FEE BN A
1,675,000/8 7T °

mISERERE

TS ERES T 7R 4E 15 BUKF & @ B
BLEEEEHMEBRAZTLEZAFET
[EEH 7 A o RN2024% K&2023512 A
3B AEEEBRSBEAERAFETA
BHHNLMEEZTEEBABRBALY
FrEE £ 2 B ERER (Ki7E18) °
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Market price risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 5%
change in the fair values of the key management insurance
contracts with all other variables held constant, of the
Group's profit/(loss) before tax and the Group's equity, based
on their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period.

misERER(E)

37. BEREREBERBEK(E)

Ti’%uRHﬂEFﬁﬁ,ﬁJm—J SR =M

ERT  REHRERRZREE $%@
BR Bt A mf‘/()’éﬁ?@)&$%@f“*ﬁ£

EEEABRBRAOND

N EF5%E

Increase/
(decrease) in

Carrying profit before
amount tax
BR75E B v A
BREME  EmCrd)
HK$'000 HK$°000
FET FHET
2024 20245
Key management insurance contract SERZEATERA
classified as a financial asset at fair value  EBHFASHEELTE
through profit or loss BERABRRED 6,067 303
Decrease/
(increase) in
Carrying loss before
amount tax
Br 7 B B 1R
BEEE R 0Em)
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FAT
2023 2023%F
Key management insurance contract SERZATERA
classified as a financial asset at fair value  B=EMEREEY T E
through profit or loss ERABRBED 5,940 297
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37.FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 37. BiXEREEEERBE (&)

POLICIES (Continued)
Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management
are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders or return capital
to shareholders. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the years
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is net debt divided by the total capital. Net debt includes
interest-bearing bank borrowings and lease liabilities. Capital
represents the equity attributable to owners of the Company.
The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were
as follows:

ExEE

AEBETERNERTIEEAREAEH
MIRFECERE ) - UARBRRIBHO R L %
FRENERGEBIAURMEE A -

NEBEIREE ARG & A RAER N &
BEL AT - BERUABREALERE &
EE ARG AR TRREAR S FRIEL
MR RIREE AR o B £20244F & 2023F
12A31BLFE  EBEANBE K
RREFTELEZE -

AEBFEAEEABL X (ADFERR A
BRBHE)ERER FEKEEALR
TERNEERE - ERERRREEA
FEhH#ER - RMEMRNEEREL XM
T~

2024 2023

20245 2023%F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FTET FAT

Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTEIRITER 6,246 23,115

Lease liabilities HEaE 61,426 25,065

Net debt FETE 67,672 48,180
Equity attributable to owners of the RAGHE AENER

Company 245,934 195,032

Gearing ratio BEAGBHXR 27.5% 24.7%
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38.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY

38. A A B AR R

2024 2023
20245 20234
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5T FET TFET
NON-CURRENT ASSET FREEE
Investments in subsidiaries R B AR RRE 181,314 181,314
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Prepayments TETFRIE 29 320
Due from subsidiaries JE U BT B A &) FR I8 52,292 52,811
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEFEY 805 310
Total current assets REBEELE 53,126 53,441
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Other payables and accruals H A FRIE R JEET B
== 87 16
Due to subsidiaries FETB /B R R FR0R 2,049 2,049
Total current liabilities MEBEERE 2,136 2,065
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFHE 50,990 51,376
Net assets BEEFE 232,304 232,690
TOTAL EQUITY TR AR
Share capital [N 28 20,000 20,000
Reserves (note) b 1 (B aE) 212,304 212,690
Total equity R ARER 232,304 232,690
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2024%12A31H

38.STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 38. AAFBEIRRE(E)
COMPANY (Continued)

Note: B3 -
A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: RARREREZOT -
Share Treasury Share option Accumulated
premium shares reserve losses Total
B EE EERYG BRERE 2itEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2023 M2023F1A18 277,051 - 42 (24,129) 252,964
Equity-settled share option R4S E R AR R 2
arrangement - - 8 - 8
Final dividend REARR B - = S (4,000) (4,000)
Loss for the year and total FABERFAZE
comprehensive EBes
loss for the year - - - (36,282) (36,282)
At 31 December 2023 and R2023F12A318 &
1 January 2024 20241818 277,051 - 50 (64,411) 212,690
Profit for the year and total FRRNRFAZE
comprehensive Wik 58
income for the year - - - 30 30
Shares repurchased & @ AR 15 - (416) - - (416)
At 31 December 2024 20244128318 277,051 (416) 50 (64,381) 212,304
39. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 39, HL B IEIRE
The financial statements were approved and authorised for B RS R AN2025F3 A3 1 B EES &
issue by the board of directors on 31 March 2025. BT RS o
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